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Gerald Leissner, who passed away on 
16 December 2016, was known for his 
humility, his love of family, his commitment 
to community, his contribution to the 
upliftment of disadvantaged South Africans 
and his extraordinary contribution to the 
property industry.

Success, whether in business, or in any of 
the community or education organisations 
in which he was involved, was typically 
attributed to the work of others. He was, 
when asked, “always well”, and just “tried 
his best”.

His best, as it happened, was exceptional.

In business, he had been MD of Anglo 
American Properties and Anglo American 
Property Services before founding ApexHi in 
2001, and subsequently Arrowhead in 2011. 
He was also instrumental in the founding 
of Indluplace and Gemgrow, REITs in which 
Arrowhead is substantially invested. 

Much of what Gerald was involved in was 
pioneering and innovative. 11 Diagonal 
Street in Johannesburg, 85 on Field in 
Durban, Marina da Gama in Cape Town and 
Silver Lakes in Centurion were just some of 
the landmark properties developed under 
his watch.

ApexHi and subsequently Arrowhead 
were innovative in that they sought 
value in secondary locations whereas 
others focused on prime commercial and 
retail property. 

Over his lifetime Gerald was involved in 
a variety of organisations and activities 
which have aimed at overcoming poverty 
and inequality. These include the Urban 
Foundation, the Central Johannesburg 
Partnership, the Inner City Housing 
Upgrading Trust, the Johannesburg Housing 
Company, the Trust for Urban Housing 
Finance, the Housing Development Agency, 
the ApexHi Empowerment Trust and the 
ApexHi and Arrowhead Charitable Trusts, 
Foundation 2000 and the Yeshiva College. 
These agencies and organisations still 
operate and contribute substantially to the 
South African society. 

However, it is in the application of the South 
African government’s BEE policy of ApexHi 
that Gerald has shaped a model which has 
created significant wealth for distribution 
to institutions involved in a broad range of 
poverty alleviation activities in economic 
and social environments. This model 
could be implemented by many public 
companies, and become a significant tool 
for redistribution of wealth.

His contribution to the country as a whole 
was recognised as far back as August 1993 
by former President Nelson Mandela in his 
address to the 37th Annual Congress of the 
South African Jewish Board of Deputies. 
Mandela said: ‘I want to take this 
opportunity also to make special mention 
of some of the other outstanding leaders 
and figures from the Jewish community who 
have been in the forefront of the struggle 
for Human Rights. All South Africans owe 
much to the example set by Mr. Gerald 
Leissner, the President of the South African 
Jewish Board of Deputies.’

Born in Johannesburg, Gerald attended 
Highlands North Boys’ High School and 
graduated from the University of the 
Witwatersrand with a CTA and later 
qualifying as a chartered accountant.

He was devoted to his family, and is 
survived by his wife Shirley, a lecturer 
in French, and four children, Wendy, 
Nicky, Jonathan and Michael, as well as 
13 grandchildren. He also leaves a sister, 
Coral Smith, who lives in Australia.

Quite unusual for a leader, Gerald had no 
ego. He also did business in his own special 
very inclusive and straightforward manner. 
His middle and senior management 
reflected racial and religious diversity long 
before it became fashionable or politically 

essential. He spoke quietly where others 
were loud, and he listened where others 
spoke. A verbal agreement or handshake 
was bankable. He was never afraid to speak 
about inequality, poverty and injustice, no 
matter the prevailing political consensus of 
the time.

We were privileged to have had Gerald 
as CEO of Indluplace. He left a rich legacy 
and impacted many lives in a meaningful 
way. He was an honourable man of deep 
integrity and made a significant contribution 
to Indluplace. His strong leadership and 
discerning wisdom will be greatly missed. 

Gerald Leissner – a full life
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Our business at a glance

Dividends per share 
(cents)

Closing share price on JSE on 
30 September (R)

2017 9,60
2016 9,25

High for the financial year (R) 2017 11,50
2016 11,30

Low for the financial year (R)  2017 9,10
2016 9,00

Volume traded during the financial year (R)  2017 26 903 416
 2016 38 778 398

Market capitalisation (R billion) 2017 2,8
2016 2,2

Weighted cost of borrowings (%)  2017 9,82 
2016 9,88

Borrowings as a percentage 
of property value (%)

2017 6,8
2016 6,3

Borrowings (R)  2017 200 000 000
2016 150 000 000

Retail occupancy (%) 2017 99,0
2016 97,9

Property portfolio (R billion) 2017 2,9
2016 2,4

Number of buildings  2017 125
 2016 116

Residential units (number) 2017 6 859
2016 5 447

Residential occupancy (%) 2017 96,5
2016 96,6
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 2017 14 803
2016 12 647

Retail (m2)

2017 97,75
2016 92,61
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Who we are
Indluplace is a residential REIT listed on the Main Board of the JSE. The company invests in 
rental residential properties and pays growing dividends to investors. On 30 September 
2017 Indluplace owned a residential property portfolio valued at R2,9 billion comprising 
6 859 residential units including limited ground floor retail exposure in certain apartment 
blocks. We have a strong pipeline with the substantial Buffet transaction in implementation.

We are a South African property fund with the objective of being the dominant rental 
residential REIT in this market. We remain committed to our strategy of acquiring only 
properties that are yield enhancing and provide income from the date of acquisition. 
Through the use of specialist outsourced property managers, Indluplace is able to raise 
the bar by providing excellent tenant and property management.

From left: Carel de Wit, Terry Kaplan, Imraan Suleman, Selwyn Noik, Clifford Abrams, Greg Kinross, Mark Kaplan, Taffy Adler, Ayesha Rehman (not pictured)
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TAFFY ADLER
Non–executive director (Chairman)
BA, BPhil in African Studies, MSc in 
Building Science
Appointment date – 25 February 2015
Committees – Remuneration and 
Nomination, Social and Ethics (Chairman)

Taffy (67) is chairman of Indluplace and 
is a non–executive director of Arrowhead 
Properties Limited. He is currently 
the Director of the University of the 
Witwatersrand’s (“Wits”) Re–Imagining 
Property Project, which seeks to enhance 
the asset management of Wits’ Property. 
He also oversees Wits’ participation in the 
urban regeneration of Braamfontein. Taffy 
was previously the CEO of the Housing 
Development Agency, whose mission is 
fast–tracking the acquisition and release of 
state, private and community owned land 
for human settlement developments. Prior 
to that, he was CEO of the Johannesburg 
Housing Company.

CLIFFORD ABRAMS
Independent non–executive director
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA), Registered Auditor
Appointment date – 25 February 2015
Committee – Audit and Risk (Chairman)

Clifford (48) is a Chartered Accountant and 
has been in private practice for the past 
17 years. He is proprietor of Clifford Abrams 
& Associates. He has held various positions 
in communal organisations and is Chairman 
of the Mizrachi Synagogue. In addition, 
Clifford is an independent non-executive 
director of Gemgrow Properties Limited.

GREG KINROSS
Lead independent non–executive 
director
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)
Appointment date – 25 February 2015
Committees – Audit and Risk,  
Remuneration and Nomination (Chairman: 
Nomination), Investment

Greg (44), who has a successful track 
record in private equity, served articles 
at PricewaterhouseCoopers from January 
1995 to December 1997 and qualified 
as a chartered accountant in December 
1997, before starting his own private 
equity business in 1998 which invested 
across a diverse range of industries. During 
this period he was appointed as CEO of 
McCarthy Bank Limited.

Between 2005 and 2013, Greg was CEO and 
President of Tau Capital Corp, a mining and 

resources business. Greg founded and was 
president of CIC Energy Corp and currently 
also serves on the board of Talon Metals 
Corp (listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange).

In 2013, after exiting from the mining 
sector, Greg formed Innovo Capital 
Proprietary Limited to again pursue 
private equity opportunities as well as new 
business opportunities and entered into 
a partnership with the Genesis Capital 
Group to form Genesis Innovo Capital 
Proprietary Limited, in October 2014. 
Greg also serves as Chairman of Gemgrow 
Properties Limited.

SELWYN NOIK
Non–executive director
CA(SA)
Appointment date – 18 March 2015
Committee – Investment (Chairman)

Selwyn (70) is a Chartered Accountant. 
After qualifying, he spent 11 years in a 
managerial position with listed property 
company, Pioneer Holdings & Finance 
Corporation Limited. He was an executive 
director of the listed trade finance company 
Reichmans Limited for 10 years and after its 
acquisition by Investec Limited, he assumed 
the role of group secretary of Investec, 

a position he held for 13 years until his 
retirement in 2007. Thereafter, he filled a 
company secretarial and compliance role 
with Investec Property until the end of 2011. 
He is a non-executive director of Arrowhead 
Properties Limited.

AYESHA REHMAN
Independent non–executive director
Diploma in Financial Accounting, Certificate 
in Management, Certificate in Project 
Management, Certificate in Property 
Development
Appointment date – 18 March 2015
Committees – Audit and Risk, Investment, 
Remuneration and Nomination (Chairlady: 
Remuneration), Social and Ethics

Ayesha (67) was the Chief Financial Officer 
of the Johannesburg Housing Company 
until her retirement in 2015, and prior to 
that she was an accountant at the Joint 
Education Trust. Ayesha is an independent 
non-executive director of Gemgrow 
Properties Limited.

Our board
NON–EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

6



7

Terry (41) joined Indluplace as Financial 
Director in March 2016. Prior to this he 
was group finance executive at Massmart 
Holdings Limited. Terry previously worked 
for Redefine Properties Limited and lived
and worked in the United Kingdom for 
eight years where he gained experience 
in both the banking and healthcare 
sectors. He began his career with Grant 
Thornton, where he qualified as a 
Chartered Accountant.

Mark (37) is the co-founder and Chief 
Executive Officer of Arrowhead Properties 
Limited, an Executive Director of Indluplace 
and the CEO of Gemgrow Properties 
Limited, all of which are listed on the JSE. He 
was previously involved in running a large 
residential portfolio focused on affordable 
and student housing.

CAREL DE WIT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Carel (50) has extensive experience across 
a variety of commercial and residential 
property investment, development and 
management. His career in property 
includes gaining experience with Sanlam 
Properties, Metcash Trading, TAG Angola 
and the Johannesburg Housing Company. 
Carel has been the CEO of Indluplace 
since March 2016.

Executive – Chief Executive Officer
BSc Building Science
Committees – Social and Ethics and 
Investment Committees with standing 
invitation to all committee meetings

Executive – Financial Director
BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)
Committees – Investment Committee 
with standing invitation to all 
committee meetings

Executive Director
B BusSc, Finance (Hons)
Committees – Investment Committee 
with standing invitation to all 
committee meetings

TERRY KAPLAN MARK KAPLAN

Imraan (45) is CFO of Arrowhead 
Properties. He joined Java Capital in 2005 
from one of the big four audit firms for 
which he had worked in both South Africa 
and the UK. Imraan advised clients on
a wide range of transactions including 
listings, mergers and acquisitions, capital 
raises and empowerment transactions. 
He is also a non–executive director of the 
Johannesburg Housing Company.

Executive Director
BCom, (Hons) Acc, CA(SA)
Committees – Investment Committee 
with standing invitation to all 
committee meetings

IMRAAN SULEMAN



Our team

Kevin Haswell 
BCom, (Hons) Acc, CA(SA)
Asset manager
Kevin (37) joined Indluplace in May 2015 and is responsible for the optimal performance of 
the properties. He works closely with the various outsourced property managers. Kevin has 
extensive experience in property development and property management, having worked at 
Sable Holdings Limited as Financial Director for seven years before joining Indluplace.

Vicki Turner 
BA, LLB, LLM, PG Dip Cyber Law
Legal advisor
Vicki (48) assists with a variety of legal aspects regarding acquisitions and disposals and also 
advises on the JSE Listings Requirements. Vicki assists in mitigating legal risk as and when it 
arises. She has extensive corporate legal experience, having worked at Java Capital before 
joining the Arrowhead Group.

EXTERNAL PROPERTY MANAGERS
Amorispan
Amorispan is an independent property services company delivering comprehensive service 
offerings to a wide client base and handling all aspects of Indluplace’s student portfolio.

CSI Rentals (“CSI”)
CSI is an independent property services company that provides well–established rental 
management services. It currently manages a variety of properties in numerous residential 
developments and estates across the greater Gauteng, Witbank and Ellisras areas.

Framework
Framework is an independent property services company that provides well–established 
rental management services. It currently manages a variety of properties in numerous 
residential developments across the greater Gauteng area. 

Mafadi Property Management (“Mafadi”)
Mafadi is an independent property service company that was formed to re–invent the 
property management sector, by focusing on providing a comprehensive list of in-house 
utilities and outstanding letting services to property owners. Mafadi manages residential, 
office and retail properties.

Prime Letting Services (“Prime”)
Prime is an independent residential property letting and management company, offering 
high quality personal and professional services to tenants and landlords.

Zelri Properties
Zelri Properties is an independent property management company which has built a 
solid and results orientated reputation. Zelri Properties specialises in residential property 
management but also manages office and retail properties. The company has a passion for 
the real estate industry and believe in a hands-on approach.
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SERVICE PROVIDERS 

Baker McKenzie 
Global law firm, Baker McKenzie, has established a significant presence in South Africa, 
advising clients on a wide range of legal issues. The firm’s competition law department 
specialises in all aspects of competition law including complex mergers and acquisitions, 
restrictive business practices, cartel–related matters and corporate leniency.

CIS Company Secretaries
CIS Company Secretaries provides company secretarial services to Indluplace, and provides 
the board members with detailed guidance as to how their responsibilities should be 
properly discharged in the best interests of the company. The company secretary provides 
a central source of guidance and advice to the board and within the company, on matters of 
ethics and good corporate governance.

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr
Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr is one of the largest business law firms in South Africa and specialises 
in services covering the complete spectrum of business legal needs.

Computershare Investor Services (“Computershare”)
Computershare manages over two million shareholder accounts, providing share registry 
and custodial services, employee share plan management and investor relations for over 
80% of the companies listed on the JSE. Computershare is a CSDP licensed by Strate.

Couzyns Inc.
Couzyns, a firm of attorneys in Johannesburg, provides legal services to a largely corporate 
client base. Couzyns is entrusted with Indluplace’s conveyancing matters.

Grant Thornton Johannesburg Partnership
Grant Thornton South Africa is part of one of the world’s leading audit, tax and advisory 
firms which helps organisations unlock their potential for growth by providing meaningful, 
actionable advice through a broad range of services.

Java Capital
Java Capital provides a complete range of financial, commercial and legal advisory and 
transaction execution services. It is licensed as a sponsor of companies listed on the JSE and 
as a designated advisor to the JSE’s AltX Exchange.

Real Insight
Real Insight is a boutique real estate advisory services company, established to provide its 
clients with professional, independent and accurate property valuations with a focus on  
property advisory and valuation services in Southern Africa, as well as throughout the rest of 
the African continent and the Indian Ocean Islands. 

Standard Bank
Standard Bank, with more than a 155 year history, is a leading Africa focused financial  
services organisation.

Yield Enhancement Solutions Proprietary Limited (“Y.E.S”)
Y.E.S is a multifaceted professional real estate services company which specializes in 
valuation and due diligence services. YES has provided services to some of South Africa’s 
largest listed and private clients. Staff members experiences have extended past South 
Africa’s borders and has provided both property valuation and advisory services for foreign 
governments and investors within South Sudan, Central African Republic, Senegal and 
Rwanda on multiple consignments.

9
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We remain a proudly South African property fund and still see substantial opportunities in 
the local market, a market that we know intimately. Indluplace will continue on its aggressive 
growth path, boosted in the new financial year with more than 2 800 units acquired in a 
transaction with the Buffet Group that was effective 1 October 2017. We will be increasing 
our debt facilities to partly fund this acquisition and have received good support from 
various banks. With a portfolio of over 9 600 residential units and approximately 18 000m2 
of associated retail space. Indluplace will then be represented in four provinces. We have 
however remained disciplined with our acquisition strategy of acquiring only properties that 
are yield enhancing for the portfolio.

Our strategy of using specialist property managers carefully paired to appropriate buildings 
has been very successful. This, combined with dedicated asset management and a single 
financial reporting system has ensured that the properties are well managed and effectively 
run. This will become more important as the portfolio grows.

It has been a very sad year due to the passing of our founder CEO Gerald Leissner.

Gerald’s passing in December 2016 brought an end to an era in the South African property 
sector. He was in the true sense an iconic figure, and will be remembered for his profound 
humility, sense of community and his meaningful contribution to the property industry in 
South Africa. At Indluplace we were privileged to work with and learn from Gerald from the 
inception of the company and its subsequent listing.

I thank the management team and fellow board members for their valued contribution 
during this successful year.

Chairman’s statement
Indluplace, a REIT that owns a growing rental residential portfolio valued at over 
R2,9 billion, has declared a dividend of 97,75 cents which is in line with guidance given. 
The Company continued to deliver impressive growth during the second year since 
listing in June 2015.

Indluplace had a good year despite the continuing political uncertainty and weak economic 
environment. We are delivering on what we promised to investors both in terms of 
dividends for the year and growing a diverse portfolio. This further underscores the 
defensive nature of the sector and specifically our portfolio diversified across geographies, 
unit type and income groups. Our main acquisition for the year was the Diluculo (“Diluculo”) 
portfolio comprising good quality, well performing assets, in a transaction valued at 
R475 million fully funded from new equity. The buildings have been incorporated into our 
portfolio with minimal inconvenience to tenants and have been performing in line with 
expectations.

Indluplace was the first focused rental residential REIT to list on the main board of the JSE 
and I am proud of the impact that we have since made on the rental housing environment 
in South Africa. By purchasing existing or recently developed residential stock, Indluplace is 
facilitating the release of capital to developers or portfolio owners who may recycle these 
funds into new stock, thus playing a positive role in relieving some of South Africa’s housing 
shortage. Rental housing is a major contributor to overcoming South Africa’s housing 
shortage, especially for those who do not qualify for either a government subsidy or a bank 
loan to acquire their own property. We have taken note of the Mayor of Johannesburg’s 
plans to rejuvenate the inner city. About a third of our portfolio is located in this area and 
we fully support this initiative. We are already heavily involved not only in the business of 
managing buildings in these high density areas but also through various city improvement 
initiatives such as the highly successful Ekhaya Neighbourhood Improvement District 
(Ekhaya). Ekhaya is a voluntary member organisation that assists in keeping Hillbrow safe 
and clean. Ekhaya is also active in building and transforming communities in Hillbrow 
through various community programmes such as soccer days, men’s and women’s forums 
and various educational programmes. 

T. Adler
Chairman 
8 November 2017
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Dividend growth of 

5,6% 
within guidance

Growth in 
dividends 

to 
continue 
in next year

Vacancies, 
arrears and 
bad debts 

stable

Portfolio 
growth of 

26% 
to 6 859 units

Executive director’s report
Financial performance for the year 
ended 30 September 2017

Distributable income statement for 12 months ended
R 30 SEPTEMBER 2017  30 SEPTEMBER 2016

Contractual rental income 330 048 127  284 565 745 
Net property expenses (73 952 618)  (66 141 768)
Net property income 256 095 509  218 423 977 
Administration costs (13 409 923)  (11 845 062)
Net finance income 5 384 045  12 039 678 
Antecedent income 18 717 216  3 855 441 
Distributable income 266 786 847  222 474 034 
Property expense ratio 22,4%  23,2%

RECONCILIATION TO AMOUNT DISTRIBUTABLE

Amount available for distribution 266 786 847  222 474 034 
Distributed for the quarter ended:
31 December (57 654 491)  (55 087 474) 
31 March (59 796 630)  (55 430 505) 
30 June (71 505 648)  (55 863 048) 
Amount to be declared for the quarter ended 30 September 77 830 078  56 093 007 
DIVIDEND PER SHARE (CENTS) FOR THE QUARTER ENDED:

31 December 23,82951  22,93067 
31 March 24,71489  23,07346 
30 June 24,72452  23,25351 
30 September *24,48003  #23,34923 
Total 97,74895  92,60687 
SHARES USED IN CALCULATION OF THE DIVIDENDS FOR THE QUARTER ENDED:

31 December 241 945 767 240 234 907
31 March 241 945 767 240 234 907
30 June 289 209 449 240 234 907
30 September § 317 932 853 240 234 907
* – Declared on 7th November 2017  
# – Declared 8th November 2016
§ – Includes the 28 723 404 shares issued post year end
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Revenue
Contractual rental has increased from 
R284,6 million at 30 September 2016 to 
R330,0 million at 30 September 2017. The 
acquisition of Diluculo with effect from 
1 July 2017, accounts for about R17 million 
of the increase. The full effect of the 
acquisitions concluded during the previous 
year, along with annual escalations, 
accounts for the balance.

Net property expenses
Net property expenses have increased from 
R66,1 million to R73,9 million which is in line 
with the increased property portfolio. The 
net property expense ratio of 22,4% is in 
line with expectations and the nature of our 
current portfolio. 

Administration costs
Administration costs have increased from 
R11,8 million to R13,4 million which is in 
line with the expansion of the company’s 
management team. 

R 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 30 SEPTEMBER 2016 
Interest on Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme 18 662 768 16 280 431
Interest received from Arrowhead and on cash balances 11 560 928 3 050 436
Interest received – other 1 167 346 342 805

31 391 042 19 673 672

Finance income has increased from R19,7 million to R31,4 million for the year ended 30 September 2017 as a result of excess funds being 
placed with Arrowhead, in terms of the Group treasury policy, and in the available facilities. 

FINANCE CHARGES

R 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 30 SEPTEMBER 2016 
Interest paid on secured financial liabilities & swaps 17 688 726 1 669 808
Interest paid to Arrowhead 7 997 099 5 815 518 
Amortisation of structuring fee 209 000 17 178
Interest paid – other 112 172 131 490

26 006 997 7 633 994

Finance charges increased as a result of the R200 million loan facility entered into with Standard Bank towards the end of the 2016 
financial year.

Net finance income

FINANCE INCOME



Extracts from the statement of financial position as at 

Investment property
The increase in investment property relates mainly to the acquisition of Diluculo, effective 1 July 2017 for R475 million, a portfolio of 1 320 
residential units across 8 properties. Garden Views, a 64-unit complex in Randburg, acquired for R25 million. This acquisition increased the 
number of residential units to 6 859 and retail space to GLA of 14 803m².

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables increased from R46,7 million to R68,7 million. Of this amount, net trade receivables amount to R3,3 million. 
The balance comprises municipal deposits, amounts receivable from property managers and the interest element relating to the loans 
to participants in the Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme. Cash in excess of R36,2 million, held by the company’s property 
managers in trust accounts, is included in the aforementioned balance. 
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R 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 30 SEPTEMBER 2016

Investment property 2 945 718 828  2 391 762 000 
Computer software 201 229  118 921 
Loans to participants of Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme 191 704 628  175 793 630 
Trade and other receivables 68 738 896  47 627 493 
Cash and cash equivalents 40 948 095  46 266 763 
Total assets 3 247 311 676 2 661 568 807 
Shareholders’ interest 2 978 791 568  2 458 890 539 
Secured financial liabilities 199 599 178  149 390 178 
Derivative instruments 3 612 549  2 455 041 
Trade and other payables 65 308 381  50 833 049 
Total equity and liabilities 3 247 311 676 2 661 568 807 
Number of shares in issue 289 209 449  240 234 907 
Net asset value (cents) 1 029,98 1 023,54 



Stated capital
The increase in stated capital is as a result of an accelerated book build to fund the 
acquisition of Diluculo.

Secured financial liabilities and derivative instruments
Secured financial liabilities increased from R149,4 million to R199,6 million at 
30 September 2017. The loan to value ratio is 6,8% measured against investment properties 
valued at R2,9 billion. R150 million of the R200 million facility is covered by a three–year 
fixed rate swap of 10,11%, the fair value of which is R3,6 million. The balance of R50 million 
is priced at 8,95% variable funding.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables increased from R50,8 million to R65,3 million. Of this amount, 
tenants’ deposits increased by R6,3 million as a result of the Diluculo acquisition. 

14



Indluplace’s property portfolio is externally managed by specialist property managers. Services provided include marketing, letting, tenant 
vetting, building management, municipal account management, rental collection and tenant management and retention. The property 
managers have extensive experience in running residential property portfolios. 

As part of actively managing the residential portfolio, Indluplace may move properties between managing agents. As the portfolio grows, 
Indluplace may engage further experienced external property management companies to assist with managing new and existing portfolios.

Property portfolio

PROPERTY NAME PROVINCE TYPE
TRANSFER OR EFFECTIVE 

DATE
RESIDENTIAL 

UNITS
RETAIL

GLA (M2)
ACQUISITION 

PRICE (R)

Garden Views Gauteng Residential suburban 14 December 2016  64 –  25 000 000 

Frederick House* Gauteng Residential/retail inner city 1 July 2017  138  295  47 000 000 

Jozi House* Gauteng Residential/retail inner city 1 July 2017  243  1 150  82 470 000 

Parnon Court* Free State Residential suburban 1 July 2017  71 –  22 000 000 

Quagga* Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 1 July 2017  248 9  71 500 000 

Stone Arch* Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 1 July 2017  222 –  91 300 000 

Syringa* Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 1 July 2017  146 –  61 000 000 

Willowbrooke* Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 1 July 2017  100 –  46 330 000 

Fasser House* Gauteng Residential/retail inner city 1 July 2017  152  702  53 400 000 

 1 384  2 156  500 000 000 

* Part of the Diluculo acquisition.

Property acquisitions

Indluplace’s property portfolio comprise 6 859 residential units and 14 803 m2 retail in 125 buildings 
situated in Gauteng, Mpumalanga and the Free State. 
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Top ten properties by value

PROPERTY NAME PROVINCE TYPE 2017 VALUATION (R)

Highveld View Mpumalanga Residential townhouse complex 319 376 000

Kings Ransom Gauteng Residential/retail inner city highrise 132 076 000

Sentinel Gauteng Residential/retail inner city highrise 122 619 000

Park Village Gauteng Student accommodation 96 350 000

Stone Arch Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 92 100 000

Jozi House Gauteng Residential/retail inner city highrise 83 386 000

Redwood Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 74 480 000

Quagga Gauteng Residential townhouse complex 73 600 000

Balnagask Gauteng Residential inner city highrise 70 510 000

Bree City Mall Gauteng Residential/retail inner city highrise  65 058 000 

16



12 month letting report - Residential units and retail GLA  (m2)
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For purposes of the information of the graphs 
compiled on the following page, residential 
units comprise residential and student units. 
The retail component is represented by m2.

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS

RETAIL 
GLA - M2

3,4 2,3

– –

0,1 (1,3)

3,5 1,0

0,1 (1,3)

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS

RETAIL 
GLA - M2

186 287

– –

57 (133)

243 154

 57 (133) 

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS

RETAIL 
GLA - M2

5 261 12 360

1 355 2 156

– 133

6 616 14 649

1 355 2 289

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS

RETAIL 
GLA - M2

1 OCTOBER 2016 5 447 12 647

Acquisition 1 384 2 156

Movement 28 –

30 SEPTEMBER 2017 6 859 14 803

Net gain 1 412 2 156

RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS

RETAIL 
GLA - M2

96,6 97,7

–

(0,1) 1,3

96,5 99,0

(0,1) 1,3



A15% B11%

C74%

Large international and 
national tenants, large 
listed tenants and 
government or smaller 
tenants in respect of 
which rental guarantees 
are issued. Examples of 
these include Shoprite 
and MTN.

Smaller 
international and 
national tenants, 
smaller listed 
tenants, major 
franchisees and 
medium to large 
professional firms.

Other local tenants 
and sole proprietors. 

RETAIL

STUDENT

RESIDENTIAL

4%

9%

87%

TOTAL REVENUE

–

4%

96%

UNITS

UNITS

UNITS

M 
2

The retail comprises 
14 803m2 and is all 

located in Gauteng.

RESIDENTIAL STUDENT RETAIL
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SECTORAL PROFILE TENANCY GRADING BY REVENUE

EXPIRY PROFILE BY REVENUE AND M2/UNITS

R UNITS R UNITS R M2

Vacant – 3 – – 1 1

Monthly 100 97 – – – –

to 30 September 2018 – – 75 74 55 53

to 30 September 2019 – – 25 26 18 16

to 30 September 2020 – – – – 12 15

to 30 September 2021 – – – – 2 2

to 30 September 2022 – – – – 12 14
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GAUTENG

MPUMALANGA

FREE STATE

11,1%
BY REVENUE

7%
BY UNITS

450
UNITS

71
UNITS

0,2%
BY REVENUE

1%
BY UNITS

6 338
UNITS

88,7%
BY REVENUE

92%
BY UNITS

R1 640
ROOMS

R2 910
BACHELORS

R4 020
1 BEDS

R5 240
2 BEDS

R5 630

3 BEDROOM
AND OTHER

Average monthly rental: 
• excluding student R4 250;  
• including student R4 530;   

BACHELORS/
ROOMS

23%
1 BEDS

19%
2 BEDS

47%
3 BEDS

9%
OTHER

2%

1 582 1 309 3 196 612 160
units units units units units

TOTAL

6 859
units

Average escalation: 
• is 6,1% (residential – units); and
• is 6,0% (retail – GLA).
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RESIDENTIAL UNIT TYPES RESIDENTIAL 
GEOGRAPHIC 
SPREAD 
BY REVENUE 
AND UNITS

WEIGHTED AVERAGE RENTAL AND ESCALATIONS PER MONTH 



2020

RESIDENTIAL UNIT 
GEOGRAPHIC SPREAD WITHIN GAUTENG



Prospects
The board is confident that ample opportunities for acquisitions and growth exist and that 
Indluplace will increase its portfolio substantially over the next few years notwithstanding 
the current financial climate. The Buffet transaction will be implemented early in the 
next financial year and will add over 2 800 units to our portfolio. Portfolio LTV  
(loan-to-value) will be increased to 32,9% and the positive effect of fixed loans will be seen 
in future years. 

Given the defensive nature of its diverse residential portfolio with the strong fundamentals 
in this sector, Indluplace is well placed to weather the current uncertain economic 
environment. Taking the effects of acquisitions finalised but not yet transferred into 
account, Indluplace projects that the portfolio of properties currently owned with the new 
acquisitions will deliver dividend growth of between 4% and 7% for the 2018 financial year. 
Any further potential transactions currently being negotiated have not been taken into 
account. This forecast has not been reviewed or reported on by the company’s auditors. 

Given the nature of its business, Indluplace uses dividend per share as its key performance 
measure as it is considered a more relevant performance measure than earnings or 
headline earnings per share.
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Corporate governance 
In regularly reviewing the company’s 
governance structures, the Board leads 
ethically and effectively, always acting in the 
best interests of the company, ensuring 
that the company operates in a sustainable 
manner. The company welcomes the 
introduction of King IV and recognises that it 
is part of the journey towards value creation 
for shareholders and stakeholders alike.

The board
The Board is responsible for the strategic 
direction and control of the company. It 
exercises control through a governance 
framework that includes the review and 
implementation of detailed reporting 
presented to it and its sub-committees 
and the implementation of a continuously 
updated risk management programme.

The role of the chairman and the CEO are 
separate and the CEO is fully responsible 
and accountable for the operations of 
the company.

The chairman leads the Board and 
facilitates constructive relations between 
the executives and the Board.

The Board comprises nine directors. Three 
directors are independent non-executive 
and two are non-executive directors. 

The executive directors are C. de Wit, 
the CEO, T Kaplan, the FD, M. Kaplan and 
I. Suleman. G. Leissner, passed away in 
December 2016. 

The Board has adopted a charter that 
sets out the practices and processes it 
follows to discharge its responsibilities. 
The charter specifically describes the roles, 
functions, responsibilities and powers of 
the Board, the chairman, executive and 
non- executive directors. 

The terms of reference of the Board and 
its committees deal with such matters as 
corporate governance, directors’ dealings 
in securities, declarations of conflicts of 
interest, Board meeting documentation 
and procedures for the nomination, 
appointment, induction, training and 
evaluation of the directors.

There is an appropriate balance of power 
and authority on the Board so that no 
individual has unfettered decision making 
powers and no individual dominates the 
Board’s deliberations and decisions. The 
Board regularly reviews the authorities 
delegated to management, as well as those 
matters reserved to the Board.

After recommendation by the remuneration 
and nomination committee, Board 
appointments are considered by the 

Board as a whole in accordance with the 
company’s policy for appointments to the 
Board. Appointments are made in a formal 
and transparent manner.

Any director appointed during the year 
is required to have the appointment 
confirmed by shareholders at the next 
general or annual general meeting. One 
third of all directors retire by rotation on 
an annual basis and if eligible, may make 
themselves available for re-election.

For details of the directors retiring by 
rotation and making themselves available 
for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, see page 87 of this report.

The Board has delegated certain specific 
responsibilities to the following committees:
• Remuneration and nomination 

committee;
• Audit and risk committee;
• Investment committee; and
• Social and ethics committee.

The committees assist the Board in 
discharging its responsibilities and duties, 
whilst overall responsibility remains with the 
Board. Full transparency and disclosure of 
committee deliberations is encouraged and 
the minutes of all committee meetings are 
made available to all directors. Directors 

are encouraged to take independent 
advice at the company’s expense for 
the proper execution of their duties and 
responsibilities, after following an approved 
procedure. The Board has unrestricted 
access to the external auditors, professional 
advisors, the services of the company 
secretary, the executives and the staff of the 
company at any given time. An induction 
programme is provided for new directors.

An assessment of all Board members, 
including the chairman, was being 
undertaken in terms of their interaction with 
the CEO and executives, their attendance 
at, preparation for and participation at 
meetings, their understanding of property 
and financial related matters, their 
independence and commitment to ensuring 
that the company conducts itself ethically, 
with integrity, fairly, transparently and 
competently as well as subscribing to the 
highest standards of corporate governance 
in the achievement of strategic objectives.

The chairman was assessed on his 
leadership of the Board.



During the year, each Board member assessed the Board and the Board committees on 
which they serve.

Directors and committee members are supplied with comprehensive information that 
allows them to properly discharge their responsibilities. The members of the Board bring a 
mix of skills, experience and technical expertise to the Board that meets at least four times 
a year.

Board committee disclosure and attendance

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE:

NAME 08 NOV 2016 07 FEB 2017 09 MAY 2017 08 AUG 2017

C. Abrams √ √ √ √

T. Adler (Chairperson) √ √ √ √

C. de Wit √ √ √ √

M. Kaplan √ √ √ √

T. Kaplan √ √ √ √

G. Kinross √ √ √ √

G. Leissner A N/A N/A N/A

S. Noik √ √ √ √

A. Rehman √ √ √ √

I. Suleman √ √ √ √

√ - Attended 
N/A - Not Applicable
A - Apology
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The investment committee
The committee comprises S. Noik 
(chairman), C. de Wit, T. Kaplan, G. Kinross, 
A. Rehman, M. Kaplan and I. Suleman and 
meets when decisions are required to 
acquire or dispose of property assets. 
A full due diligence is undertaken before 
any property is considered for acquisition, 
and is circulated to all members of the 
committee in advance of meetings. 
Decisions of the committee require 
consensus. The investment committee 
has met prior to the conclusion of each 
acquisition or disposal.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE:

NAME 01 NOV 2016 30 JUN 2017

C. de Wit √ √

M. Kaplan √ √

T. Kaplan √ √

G. Kinross √ √

S. Noik (chairperson) √ √

A. Rehman A A

I. Suleman √ √
√ - Attended
A - Apology

The remuneration and 
nomination committee
The remuneration and nomination 
committee comprises two independent 
non-executive directors, A. Rehman and 
G. Kinross and one non-executive director, 
T. Adler, whose primary responsibilities 
include approving the remuneration 
policy of the company, monitoring its 
implementation, ensuring that directors 
and senior executives are remunerated 
fairly and responsibly, as well as identifying, 
assessing and nominating new non-
executive directors for appointment to 
the board.

Any new appointees are required to 
possess the requisite skills to contribute 
meaningfully to board deliberations and to 
enhance board composition in accordance 
with recommendations, legislation, 
regulations and best practice.

The committee considers the mix of 
basic remuneration, annual bonuses and 
performance related incentive elements. 
Incentives are based on targets that are 
stretching, verifiable and relevant. The 
remuneration committee is mandated by 
the board to approve the remuneration 
and incentivisation of all employees, 
including executive directors. In addition, 
the remuneration committee recommends 
directors’ fees payable to non-executive 
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directors and members of board 
subcommittees, for ultimate approval 
by shareholders. 

Matters relating to nominations are chaired 
by G. Kinross and matters relating to 
remuneration by A. Rehman. The CEO, FD 
and other members of the executive attend 
meetings by invitation.

In respect of nomination responsibilities, 
the Board maintains an oversight role and 
has ultimate decision making power on 
any nomination recommendation made by 
the committee.

The Indluplace remuneration policy 
supports the company’s policy of attracting, 
retaining and incentivising high calibre 
staff, which is in the company’s as well 
as all stakeholders’ best interests. The 
remuneration policy and implementation 
report can be found on page 37.

Non-executive directors receive fixed 
fees for their services as directors and as 
members of the Board’s sub-committees 
and do not participate in any performance 
related incentives.

Remuneration of non-executive directors 
is reviewed and set by the committee for 

ultimate approval by shareholders. These 
fees are benchmarked every two years.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE:

NAME 29 SEPT 2017

T. Adler √

C. de Wit ◊

M. Kaplan ◊

T. Kaplan ◊

G. Kinross (chairperson Nomination) √

A. Rehman (chairperson Remuneration) √

I. Suleman ◊
√ - Attended 
◊ - Attendance by invitation
N/A - Not Applicable
A - Apology

The audit and risk committee
Indluplace’s audit and risk committee is 
integral to the company’s risk management 
process. It reports to shareholders on 
the extent to which it carried out its 
statutory oversight duties in respect of the 
external auditors, the appropriateness of 
the financial statements and accounting 
practices, as well as internal financial 
controls. The audit and risk committee 
report can be found on page 35.

The committee consists of three 
independent non-executive directors, 
C. Abrams (Chairman), G. Kinross and 
A. Rehman. The CEO, FD and other board 
members, as well as representatives of 
the external auditors attend meetings 
by invitation.

The committee members have the 
requisite financial and commercial skills 
to make an effective contribution to the 
committee’s deliberations.

The auditors have unrestricted access to 
the audit and risk committee.

The audit and risk committee considers 
reports in respect of financial performance, 
internal controls, adherence to accounting 
policies, compliance and areas of significant 
risk as well as written reports from 
the auditors.

The committee has unrestricted access 
to independent expert advice should the 
need arise.

All non-audit services by the external 
auditors are required to be approved in 
advance by the audit and risk committee.
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The Board is responsible for the company’s 
systems of internal controls to enable the 
preparation of accurate financial statements 
and for maintaining an effective system of 
risk management.

One of the responsibilities of the committee 
is to assist the Board in monitoring 
the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal controls and risk management 
processes generally.

The company has an effective ongoing 
process for identifying risk, measuring 
its potential impact and initiating and 
implementing measures to reduce 
exposure to an acceptable level. External 
specialist consultants are utilised, where 
required, to assist the committee with risk 
management measures. The committee 
also has unrestricted access to independent 
expert advice, after following the agreed 
procedure, should the need arise.

Having regard to the size and life-stage of 
the company, a dedicated internal audit 
function is not warranted at this stage and 
the Board believes that the IT governance 
policy is appropriate. Use is made of 
external specialists (including resources of 
the external property managers) in respect 
of IT functions. 

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE:

NAME 08 NOV 2016 07 FEB 2017 09 MAY 2017 08 AUG 2017

C. Abrams (Chairperson) √ √ √ √
T. Adler ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
C. de Wit ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
M. Kaplan ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
T. Kaplan ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
G. Kinross √ √ √ √
S. Noik ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
A. Rehman √ √ √ √
I. Suleman ◊ ◊ ◊ ◊
√ - Attended 
◊ - Attendance by invitation
N/A - Not Applicable
A - Apology

The Social and Ethics Committee
A formally appointed social and ethics committee, comprising CEO C. de Wit and 
non- executive directors T. Adler and A. Rehman, has been constituted.

The committee has all the functions and responsibilities provided for in the Companies Act.

See page 36 for social and ethics committee report.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE:

NAME 29 SEPT 2017

T. Adler (Chairperson) √

C. de Wit √

T. Kaplan ◊

A. Rehman √
√ - Attended
◊ - Attendance by invitation

Commentary
The Board is assisted by a suitably qualified 
company secretary, G. Prestwich of CIS 
Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited 
who holds a BA degree from the University of 
the Witwatersrand, is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators 
and has a diploma in International Trust 
Management. Ms Prestwich is not a 
director of the company and has been 
empowered to fulfill her duties. The Board 
has considered the company secretary’s 
competence, qualifications and experience 
and is satisfied that the company secretary 
has the necessary skills and experience. The 
Board is satisfied that the company secretary 
maintains an arm’s length relationship with 
the Board and is sufficiently qualified and 
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experienced to execute the required duties. 
The company secretary advises the Board 
on appropriate procedures for management 
of meetings and ensures that the corporate 
governance framework is maintained. The 
directors have unlimited access to the advice 
and services of the company secretary.

Appointment
Y. Silimela was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director with 
effect from 1 November 2017. Yondela 
is a town planner by qualification and 
has expertise in real estate development 
and management, city governance, local 
government management, town and 
regional planning, urban renewal and 
regeneration and town and regional 
economic development. Yondela was until 
recently the executive director managing 
the Development Planning Department of 
the City of Johannesburg, responsible for 
overall management of the Development 
Planning Department. Her previous 
roles include asset manager for property 
investments at the Public Investment 
Corporation, strategic support director 
in Development Planning and Urban 
Management for the City of Johannesburg 
and chief director of the National Urban 
Renewal Programme for the Department of 
Provincial and Local Government.

King IV compliance
This section is to be read in conjunction 
with the company’s integrated annual 
report for the financial year ended 30 
September 2017, in particular the corporate 
governance section, the audit and risk 
committee report, the social and ethics 
committee report, the remuneration policy 
and the implementation report. 

1.  Principles of King IV and 
disclosure requirements
Principle 1:
The board should lead ethically 
and effectively.

Explanation:
The Board has taken cognisance of 
the approach contained in both the 
Companies Act and King IV that the 
company has a role to play in society 
and has an obligation to behave as a 
responsible corporate citizen.

The Board leads by example and has 
adopted a code of ethics and conduct 
so as to commit the business practices 
which the company will follow to writing, 
as well as the standards of behaviour 
required by others within the company. 
Agility, integrity, trust, simplicity and 
accountability are all relevant principles 
within the company.

Despite the company having a small 
staff complement, with property 
management outsourced to external 
property managers, the Board ensures 
that an ethical culture is imbued in this 
strategy, plans and performance of 
the company.

Principle 2:
The Board should govern the ethics of 
the organisation in a way that supports 
the establishment of an ethical culture.

Explanation: 
The Board assumes responsibility for 
the governance of ethics. The Board has 
adopted a code of ethics which clearly 
sets out the business practices which 
the company will follow as well as the 
standards of behaviour for all persons 
within the company.

The Board ensures that the code 
of ethics is well communicated 
and understood.

Specifically the company:
• Promotes ethical business practices;
• Operates responsibly in accordance 

with all relevant laws and regulations;
• Ensures equal opportunities;
• Provides a safe and healthy 

working environment;

• Values diversity in the workplace;
• Conducts its dealings with third 

parties in an ethical manner;
• Provides a safe route for people to 

highlight non-compliance; and
• Conducts relationships with 

employees, tenants and stakeholders 
in a manner which ensures respect 
for all parties.

These principles sit alongside the 
company’s principles of agility, integrity, 
trust, simplicity and accountability, 
and together are at the heart of all its 
dealings and drive the way in which the 
company operates as a collective to 
benefit all employees, tenants, suppliers, 
shareholders and other stakeholders.
Adherence to corporate governance is 
entrenched in the company’s day-to-day 
operations and directors and employees 
are expected to actively pursue and 
maintain these standards.

The company had at the date hereof, 
a small staff complement, accordingly, 
application of the company’s ethics was 
monitored monthly with reference to 
the outsourcing arrangements in place. 
Meetings and telephonic conferences 
were held. No adverse outcomes were 
found during the year under review.
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The planned area of future focus is 
to develop an ethics policy which 
encompasses in greater detail the 
relationship with external stakeholders, 
taking into account the legitimate 
and reasonable needs, interests and 
expectations of stakeholders. 

Principle 3: 
The Board should ensure that the 
organisation is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen.

Explanation: 
The Board has undertaken a full review 
of the company’s position with regards 
to being a responsible corporate citizen. 
This includes a review of the company’s 
remuneration policy, work environment, 
health and safety requirements, reporting 
on B-BBEE, employment equity and the 
application of King IV. 

Indluplace recognises the link between 
its strategy, governance and financial 
performance and the social, environmental 
and economic context within which 
it operates.

Being focused on residential properties, 
the company pays special attention to 
the maintenance of external areas within 

and at complexes or buildings, focusing 
especially on gardens, paving, lighting, 
security and access controls. Access control 
to properties and complexes is essential to 
ensure that usage of individual units and 
common areas are managed.

The positive management of electricity 
and water consumption includes the use 
of prepaid meters where possible with 
individual unit consumption measured 
and monitored.

Indluplace continuously considers 
the health and safety of all users of 
its properties and has outsourced 
the implementation thereof to our 
property managers.

Indluplace intends to establish a charitable 
trust (once it reaches sufficient size) where 
income and capital generated by the trust 
will be used to assist non-governmental 
organisations and charities providing 
services to the communities in which 
Indluplace is invested. Until the trust is in 
place, the company’s executive will consider 
direct donations to approved public benefit 
organisations.

Indluplace management and property 
managers are involved with various 
community initiatives in and around 

its properties. Ekhaya Neighbourhood 
Initiative operates in Hillbrow and is a 
voluntary not for profit organisation 
bringing together like minded property 
owners and managers. It aims to assist 
the municipality to ensure that the area 
is clean and safe while also providing 
various community building programmes. 
Similar organisations are in the process of 
being established in Windsor and Yeoville.
Indluplace assists by taking a lead role in the 
strategic management of the organisation, 
providing financial contributions and 
supporting building staff to benefit from 
its programmes.

The Board appointed an independent 
consultant in the year under review in 
order to assess the company’s reporting on 
employment equity. The Board is able to 
confirm that the only pending requirement 
is the current statutory employment equity 
submission which will be reported on by 
15 January 2018. This will be managed 
actively and reported on as a Board 
reporting issue moving forward.

In the coming financial year the Board 
intends developing the focus on 
“responsible corporate citizenship” 
with reference, amongst others, to the 
constitution of South Africa and King IV.  
A copy of the company’s Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment verification 

certificate has been placed on the 
company’s website www.indluplace.co.za.

Principle 4:
The Board should appreciate that the 
organisation’s core purpose, its risks 
and opportunities, strategy, business 
model, performance and sustainable 
development are all inseparable 
elements of the value creation process.

Explanation: 
The Board assumes responsibility for 
Indluplace’s strategy (strategy is defined 
as the setting of the organisations 
short, medium and long-term direction 
towards realising its core purpose 
and values), which is aligned with its 
business model.

Indluplace was the first residential REIT 
listed on the JSE. Indluplace’s strategy is 
to grow aggressively by acquiring yield 
enhancing properties and portfolios 
that provide income from the date of 
acquisition to pay growing dividends to its 
shareholders within the parameters set 
by its investment committee, and taking 
into account the risk/reward profile of the 
property/ies. Indluplace is positioned to 
assist in providing an exit for developers 
and owners of residential stock or 
portfolios who may reinvest the capital 
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in additional stock. The Board meets 
annually in order to assess the strategy 
of the company, taking into account 
the prevailing market conditions. That 
being said, the Board meets quarterly 
and will touch on strategy when deemed 
appropriate at the board meeting. 

Indluplace has an investment committee 
(refer page 23 for further details) which 
assists the Board of directors with 
regards to investment decisions relating 
to the acquisition and disposal of 
property by the company in line with its 
stated strategy. The terms of reference 
in respect of the investment committee 
have been approved by the Board. 
The company’s strategy is reflected in 
the investment committee’s terms of 
reference namely:
• to make only acquisitions that 

grow sustainable earnings thereby 
providing a platform for growth;

• acquisitions must be yield enhancing 
from the date of acquisition;

• properties which are considered 
to be surplus to the company’s 
requirements as a result of non-
performance, size or location are to 
be disposed of; and

• no property should represent 
more than 10% of the value of the 
company’s portfolio.

Principle 5:
The Board should ensure that reports 
issued by the organisation enable 
stakeholders to make informed 
assessments of the organisation’s 
performance, and its short, medium and 
long-term prospects.

Explanation:
The Board ensures that reports issued 
by the company are issued timeously 
and enable stakeholders to make 
informed assessments of the company’s 
performance, and its short, medium 
and long-term prospects, subject to 
statutory and regulatory requirements. 
The company has retained Instinctif 
Partners to assist with ensuring that its 
stakeholder communications, whether 
by means of SENS announcements, 
press releases, circulars, the integrated 
annual report, investor presentations 
or direct engagements are clear, 
informative and relevant. 

The Board is provided with copies of 
financial results, circulars and integrated 
annual reports and given an opportunity 
to comment thereon prior to dispatch. 
All SENS announcements, circulars 
and integrated annual reports and 
notices of annual general meeting 
are placed on the company’s website 
www.indluplace.co.za.

Principle 6:  
The Board should serve as the focal 
point and custodian of corporate 
governance in the organisation.

Explanation:
The Board has adopted a board 
charter and code of ethics and has 
established an audit and risk committee, 
a remuneration and nomination 
committee, an investment committee 
and a social and ethics committee, 
each of which has adopted terms 
of reference.

The Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled 
its responsibilities in accordance with its 
board charter for the reporting period.

Principle 7:  
The Board should comprise of the 
appropriate balance of knowledge, skills, 
experience, diversity and independence 
for it to discharge its governance 
role and responsibilities objectively 
and effectively.

Explanation: 
The Board as presently constituted is 
diverse and experienced with a majority 
of non-executive directors. In view of 
the fact that certain of the functions 
of the remuneration committee and 
the nomination committee overlap 

the board resolved to establish 
a combined remuneration and 
nomination committee comprising two 
independent non-executive and one 
non-executive director. The terms of 
reference of the committee detail inter 
alia the procedures for appointments 
to the Board. As a cornerstone of good 
corporate governance there is a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure for 
the appointment of new directors to the 
board which includes:

• evaluating the skills, knowledge, 
experience and diversity of the 
Board members and in the light 
of the evaluation, preparing 
a description of the role and 
capabilities required for any 
particular appointment. In identifying 
suitable candidates the committee 
has due regard of the benefits of 
diversity on the Board and has to 
be satisfied that appointees have 
adequate time available to devote to 
the position; and

• the proposed appointee is required 
to disclose all other business 
interests that could result in a 
conflict of interest prior to him/her 
being recommended to the Board.

The remuneration and nomination 
committee is tasked with:
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• reviewing the results of the board 
evaluation process that relates to the 
composition of the board;

• giving consideration to succession 
planning for the CEO and executive 
directors, taking into account the 
challenges and opportunities facing 
the company and the skills and 
expertise needed in the future;

• evaluating the effectiveness of the 
board as a whole;

• considering and evaluating the 
performance and contribution of the 
non-executive directors;

• proposing suitable candidates for the 
role of lead independent director.

 
The remuneration and nomination 
committee assists with the 
establishment of a formal and 
transparent procedure for the 
establishment of a remuneration policy 
and for determining the remuneration 
packages payable to executive directors 
and non-executive directors with agreed 
terms of reference. 

The board has adopted a diversity policy 
and is committed to the principle of 
diversity (including gender diversity) at 
board level. All new appointments to the 
board will be considered in the context 
of achieving voluntary gender diversity 

targets at board level whilst keeping 
the operational requirements of the 
company in mind.

Principle 8:
The Board should ensure that its 
arrangements for delegation within its 
own structures promote independent 
judgement and assist with balance of 
power and the effective discharge of 
its duties.

Explanation:
The Board has established an audit and 
risk committee, a remuneration and 
nomination committee, an investment 
committee and a social and ethics 
committee which have certain roles 
and responsibilities contained in terms 
of reference adopted by the board. 
The board has in addition passed an 
overarching resolution in terms of which 
certain responsibilities are delegated to 
executive directors. 

Principle 9:
The Board should ensure that the 
evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its individual members 
support continued improvement in its 
performance and effectiveness.

Explanation:
The Board is satisfied that the evaluation 
process is improving its performance 
and effectiveness.

Principle 10: 
The Board should ensure that the 
appointment of and delegation to 
management contributes to the role 
clarity and the effective exercise of 
authority and responsibilities.

Explanation: 
The CEO, C de Wit is contracted until 
1 June 2020. His service contract is 
terminable on two months’ notice 
save in instances of material breach, 
conduct which brings the company into 
disrepute, and circumstances justifying 
termination at law in which event, the 
CEO’s service contract is summarily 
terminable. The CEO does not have 
any professional commitments outside 
of the company. The CEO is in regular 
contact with the chairman of the Board.

At present the company has only four 
executive directors and one employee. 
The chief executive officer Carel de Wit is 
accountable and reports to the Board. 
The Board is satisfied that the delegation 
of authority framework contributes to 

role clarity and the effective exercise of 
authority and responsibilities.

Principle 11:
The Board should govern risk in a way 
that supports the organisation in setting 
and achieving strategic objectives.

Explanation:
Acquisitions and disposals within 
the parameters set out in Principle 4 
above are approved by the investment 
committee established by the Board. 
Acquisitions and disposals outside these 
parameters are approved by the Board. 
The strategy of the Board from time to 
time determines the organisation’s risk 
appetite. The audit and risk committee 
has adopted and implemented a 
risk management policy which is in 
accordance with industry practice and 
which prohibits the company from 
entering into any derivative transactions 
which are not in the normal course of 
business. The risk matrix on pages 32 
to 34 is updated quarterly and any new 
risks are identified and a process or 
policy put in place as required. 

The focus for the coming financial year 
will be on assessing the:
• risks and opportunities emanating 
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from the social, economic and 
environmental context within which 
the company operates in South 
Africa;

• potential opportunities presented by 
risks; and

• risks to achieving organisational 
objectives.

Principle 12: 
The Board should govern technology 
and information in a way that supports 
the organisation setting and achieving 
its strategic objectives.

Explanation:
An outsourced model for all technology 
requirements is utilised. There is a 
flat infrastructure with an on-site 
file server, with back-ups managed 
manually by the outsourced supplier. 
There is a non-disclosure agreement 
in place with the supplier. There are 
strict log in processes to emails which 
are hosted off-site by an external third 
party supplier. All accounting reporting 
for tenants is included as part of the 
outsourced property manager’s service 
level agreement which utilises cloud 
managed services.

There were no significant changes in 
policy during the year under review. 

The executive directors completed 
an internal analysis of information 
technology within the company. In the 
coming financial year changes to certain 
back up process are to be implemented.

An offsite, cloud hosted backup 
management and enhanced security 
and archiving email is in place for the 
property management system. 

Principle 13:
The Board should govern in compliance 
with applicable laws and adopted, 
non-binding rules, codes and 
standards in a way that supports the 
organisation being ethical and a good 
corporate citizen.

Explanation:
The company has a dedicated legal 
resource who monitors compliance and 
remains, together with the Company 
Secretary, appraised of any new 
legislation, and non-binding rules and 
codes which may be of application to the 
company. Pre-emptive action is taken 
where possible so as to be prepared in 
advance of the implementation date of 
new legislation, regulation or codes.

In the year under review inter alia the 
Property Sector Charter, Companies 
Act, amendments to the JSE Listings 

Requirements, King IV, amendments 
to the Income Tax Act, the Protection 
of Personal Information Act (“POPI”), 
the Electronic Communications and 
Transactions Act, the Consumer 
Protection Act, the Rental Housing Act 
and the Prevention of Illegal Eviction 
from Unlawful Occupation of Land 
Act were considered. Where required, 
external attorneys and counsel were 
consulted. The company secretary 
was also called upon to provide a 
presentation with regards to the 
differences between King III and King IV 
which was made available to the Board.

In the next financial year the key areas 
of focus will be, amongst others, POPI 
and King IV.

Principle 14:
The Board should ensure that the 
organisation remunerates fairly, 
responsibly and transparently so as to 
promote the achievement of strategic 
objectives and positive outcomes in the 
short, medium and long-term.

Explanation:
Refer to pages 37 to 42 setting 
out the remuneration policy and 
implementation report.

Principle 15:
The Board should ensure that assurance 
services and functions enable an 
effective control environment, and 
that these support the integrity of 
information for internal decision 
making and of the organisation’s 
external reports.

Explanation:
King IV requires companies to disclose 
the description and nature of the 
assurance work performed over 
the published reports, other than 
financial statements, as well as the 
assurance conclusion.

Indluplace acquired a portfolio of 
companies subsequent to year-end 
as part of the Buffet investment. In 
relation to the acquisition, the external 
auditors performed an audit of the 
companies’ special purpose financial 
statements, for the purposes of meeting 
the requirements of the JSE Limited. 
The audit was performed in accordance 
in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs).

Principle 16: 
In the execution of its governance role 
and responsibilities, the board should 
adopt a stakeholder inclusive approach 



that balances the needs, interests and 
expectations of material stakeholders 
in the best interests of the organisation 
over time.

Explanation:
The chair of the board attends all 
shareholder meetings.
The executive directors have an open 
door policy and regularly engage with 
tenants and hold monthly management 
meetings with the property managers. 
Instinctif Partners facilitates larger 
stakeholder engagements. The Board 
is guided by amongst others, the JSE 

Listings Requirements and Financial 
Markets Act, when engaging with 
stakeholders. The company’s website 
www.indluplace.co.za is used to 
disseminate information widely.

The future focus will be on:
• developing a plan for communication 

in crisis situations; and
• the implementation of policies and 

procedures of the holding company 
by subsidiaries.
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Risk, sustainability and 
social investment 
The board is cognisant of the fact that the organisation’s core purpose, its risks and opportunities, strategy, business model, performance and sustainable development are all inseparable 
elements of the value creation process. The response/mitigation of the risk is assessed against this backdrop.

RISK EFFECTS RESPONSE/MITIGATION PROBABILITY

Acquisition of properties 
that are not yield 
enhancing and do not fit 
investment criteria

Dilutive impact on 
dividends

–  Strict investment criteria, overseen by investment committee;
–  Detailed due diligence;
–  No single property to be greater than 10% of portfolio value unless the investment proposition is such that 

the acquisition is merited; and
–  Disciplined adherence to strategy of only acquiring yield enhancing assets.

Low

Depreciation, devaluation 
or destruction of property

Properties depreciate/
devalue due to lack of 
maintenance 

–  Reactive/ongoing maintenance included in annual budget;
–  Proactive maintenance included in five-year property maintenance plan; and
–  Regular building inspections by portfolio managers, property managers, asset manager and directors.

Low

Damaged buildings 
would reduce rental 
income negatively 
affecting dividends

–  All properties are insured for replacement value combined with loss of income and public liability with 
reputable insurance companies; and

–  Insurance policies are reviewed annually.
Low

Hijacking of properties 
and rental boycott

Damage to property 
Loss of income

–  Regular building inspections; 
– Active tenant management; 
–  Access control; and
– Diverse portfolio.

Moderate

Increased arrears and 
bad debts

Poor performance and 
decreased dividends 

– Strict tenant selection criteria;
– Vigilant credit control;
– Continuous review of arrears and bad debts;
–  Properties secured by either individual access or common security; and
– Tenants’ deposits.

Low

Increased vacancies and 
churn in the portfolio

Poor performance and 
decreased dividends 

– Diverse portfolio and tenant mix;
–  Short-term leases ensure that units are let at market related rentals;
–  Vacancies managed throughout the month with the relevant property managers; and
– Focused re-letting programmes.

Low to 
moderate
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RISK EFFECTS RESPONSE/MITIGATION PROBABILITY

Exposure to headleases
Poor performance and 
decreased dividends

–  Diversified individual leases;
–  At acquisition, a comparative per unit rental price is performed;
–  At acquisition re-lettability in the event that leases default is assessed; and
–  Proactive management of headleases prior to expiry.

Low

Loss and compromise of 
tenant and financial data

Reputational, financial 
and legal repercussions 

–  Property manager IT systems subject to:
 • Access control;
 • Back-up procedures;
–  MDA financial data stored and backed up in the Cloud;
–  Reliance placed on JHI back-up and disaster recovery processes; and
–  Compliance with draft internal POPI processes.

Low

Fraud and error
Reputational, financial 
and legal repercussions 

– Segregation of duties and internal controls; and
–  Detailed budgets and regular property manager meetings.

Moderate

Portfolios/buildings 
incorrectly matched to 
property managers

Poor performance and 
decreased dividends

–  Prior to allocating new properties to property managers a full analysis is undertaken of the property and 
property manager; and

–  Continuous evaluation of property managers through monthly management meetings and numerous 
touch points during the month.

Low

Interest rate risk
Poor performance and 
decreased dividends

–  Gearing is limited to 40% of assets in the long term; and
–  Interest rates are fixed at 80% of debt for term of debt.

Low

Underperformance of 
portfolio and incorrect 
budgeting

Poor performance and 
decreased dividends

–  Detailed building budgets prepared by property managers and stress tested by management across 
the portfolio;

–  Diversification; and
–  On-going engagement with property managers.

Low to 
moderate

Inefficiencies of some local 
authorities

Poor performance and 
decreased dividends

–  Installation of bulk check meters to validate council’s billing;
–  The analysis of recoveries to ensure it is in line with billings;
–  Property managers have dedicated staff assigned to oversee council charges; and
– Appointment of an external specialist.

Moderate



RISK EFFECTS RESPONSE/MITIGATION PROBABILITY

Inability to attract and 
retain high calibre staff

Poor performance and 
high staff turnover

–  Competitive remuneration packages; 
–  Participation in share scheme; and
–  Executives are tied in with long-term contracts. 

Low

Increased legislative and 
compliance burden

Increased financial costs 
to remain updated on all 
current legislature:
• Tax
• Legal
• IFRS

– Advised by:
 •  Grant Thornton Johannesburg;
 •  Java Capital;
 •  Computershare;
 •  Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr; and
 other professionals in their respective fields.

Low
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Report of the Audit and risk committee
The audit and risk committee is satisfied 
that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in 
terms of its mandate, King IV and the 
Companies Act.

The committee undertook its 
duties including:
• the quality of financial information, 

financial statements and any required 
public and regulatory reporting including 
compliance thereof with applicable 
accounting standards;

• a review of the financial statements 
so as to ensure that they present 
a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the position, 
performance and prospects of the 
group;

• the external auditors proposed audit 
certificate;

• the external auditor’s management 
letter and management response;

• the credibility, independence and 
objectivity of the auditor taking into 
account audit fees; 

•  ensuring that appropriate financial 
reporting procedures are in place and 
operating; and

• external audit reports.

The committee has considered and has 
implemented the recommendations 
included in the JSE’s report on pro-active 
monitoring of financial statements dated 
13 February 2017, and its letter dated 
27 June 2017.

The committee is satisfied:
•  that the external auditor has provided 

to the audit committee the required 
IRBA inspection decision letters, findings 
report and proposed remedial action to 
address the findings;

• with the independence of the external 
auditor, and compliance with the 
company policy in this regard. The 
external auditor was appointed at the 
time of the company’s listing in June 
2015. The designated external audit 
partner will rotate in compliance with 
the Companies Act, King IV and the JSE 
Listings Requirements;

•  with the suitability of the external audit 
firm and the designated individual 
partner, having assessed the suitability 
of both parties in compliance with the 
JSE Listings requirements;

• with the terms, nature, scope and 
proposed fee of the external auditor for 
the year ended 30 September 2017;

• with the financial statements and the 
accounting practices utilised in the 
preparation thereof;

• with the company’s continuing viability 
as a going concern; and

• that T. Kaplan, the Executive Financial 
Director for the financial year ended 
30 September 2017, has the appropriate 
expertise and experience to meet his 
responsibilities in that position.

Refer to pages 22 to 31 in the corporate 
governance section for additional 
information regarding the operations of the 
audit and risk committee.

C. Abrams
Audit and risk committee chairman
8 November 2017



Report of the Social and 
ethics committee

T. Adler
Social and ethics committee chairman 
8 November 2017

The social and ethics committee was established pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. Refer 
to page 25 for further information relating to the operation of the committee. 

The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference for the reporting period 
under review.

The social and ethics committee report will be tabled at the annual general meeting on the 29 January 2018.
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Remuneration Report
Part I

BACKGROUND STATEMENT 

To align with King IV, we have separated 
our report into three sections: background 
statement (Part I), overview of the 
remuneration policy for the year ahead 
(Part II) and the implementation report 
indicating the actual remuneration paid 
based on the previous year’s remuneration 
policy (Part III). Parts II and III will be put to 
a non-binding advisory shareholder vote at 
the upcoming annual general meeting of 
the Company on Monday 29 January 2018. 
We have also enhanced our remuneration 
reporting to be more transparent regarding 
the basis on which remuneration is 
determined, and in particular have included 
details on the performance measures 
used to determine the bonuses payable. 
We invite our shareholders to engage 
us regarding the changes to our policy 
and reporting.

The remuneration policy is designed to 
facilitate and consolidate attracting and 
retaining high calibre talent at all levels. 
As we understand that all employees are 
integral to our success, we are committed 
to internal equity, and fair and responsible 

remuneration. We have thus considered 
executive management’s remuneration, and 
over time have made adjustments to our 
policy to reflect our commitment to paying 
fairly, responsibly and transparently. We 
believe that, as we have a small committed 
team of employees, it is important 
for everyone to be motivated by the 
same goals. 

The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee (“the Committee”) oversees all 
remuneration decisions, and in particular 
determines the criteria necessary to 
measure the performance of executive 
directors in discharging their functions and 
responsibilities. Pursuant to the terms of 
reference, the Committee strives to give the 
executive directors every encouragement to 
enhance the Company’s performance and 
to ensure that they are fairly but responsibly 
rewarded for their individual contributions 
and performance in respect of achieving the 
company’s strategy. 

The Committee is satisfied that in the past 
the remuneration policy achieved its stated 
objectives. During the course of the year 
under review, certain changes have been 
implemented to further align the policy with 
our strategy. These are outlined in Part II 
below.

How did Indluplace perform in 2017, and 
how did we pay executive management? 
See Part III.

Use of remuneration advisers:
The Remuneration and Nomination 
committee of Indluplace’s holding company, 
Arrowhead Properties Limited received 
advice from PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(“PwC”) during the year which advice 
was imparted to Indluplace. Indluplace is 
satisfied that the advice received from PwC 
was objective and independent.

Voting results
At the annual general meeting on 
25 January 2017, the non-binding advisory 
vote on the Company’s Remuneration 
Policy received a 98,39% vote in support of 
the policy. 
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ELEMENT DETAIL

Total guaranteed pay
A total guaranteed package is paid which is inclusive of annual 
salary and all benefits. There are no additional benefits or 
allowances payable.

Short-term incentive 
“Annual bonus”

The bonus is payable annually in cash and is linked to 
achievement of strategically important company-wide 
performance measures.
In addition, the bonus is linked to the Share Purchase and 
Option Scheme through the election of the Committee to 
award Incentive Loan Shares in lieu of cash bonuses under  
the scheme. 

Indluplace Share Purchase 
and Option Scheme 

Loans of up to five times annual salary are made available to 
executive management to acquire Indluplace shares. Executive 
management must provide 13% personal surety on the  
loan amount.
Executive management is not eligible to receive options under 
the scheme.

Guaranteed pay
Our pay philosophy is to set total guaranteed pay at the upper quartile of the market. 
We benchmark to companies which are comparable in terms of size, market sector 
and complexity. 
 
Annual increases are inflationary adjustments, which are also determined with reference 
to market competitiveness.  Awarding of annual increases is dependent on the financial 
performance, stability and position of the Company.

Short-term incentive – “Annual Bonus”
Executive management is eligible to receive an annual bonus, which is determined 
according to the performance of Indluplace, relative to pre-determined performance criteria 
which are aligned with the creation of shareholder value. The Committee will ensure that 
bonuses are only awarded in a manner that is affordable to the Company. 

Bonuses paid to executive management cannot exceed 100% of annual salary. 

The use of the company-wide performance measures as an input to the modifier results 
in annual bonus payments being closely linked to the strategic objectives of the Company, 
including the long-term sustainability of the Company. 

The performance measures that are used to determine the modifier, and thus the quantum 
of the bonus, and the applicable weightings, are as follows:

Part II

OVERVIEW OF THE MAIN PROVISIONS OF THE REMUNERATION 
POLICY

The remuneration policy for the upcoming year, which will be presented to shareholders for 
an advisory vote at the upcoming annual general meeting, is outlined below.

Elements of remuneration 
The elements of remuneration applicable to executive management (including executive 
directors and prescribed officers) are described below. Where elements also apply to other 
employees, this is indicated. 
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE WEIGHTINGS

Annual dividend 25%

Target –  dividend agreed by Indluplace board at November 
board meeting

Note:  maximum achievement is earned on this measure if 
percentage growth in distributions increases by 150% 
of dividend decided by Indluplace board

Dividend growth compared to sector 20%

Target –  sector average

Capital return for the year compared to sector 10%

Target –  sector average

Asset base growth – Cost of new acquisitions less disposals for the year as 
a percentage of previous year’s balance sheet value

25%

Target –  12 month target set by the Board

Vacancy – (Average for 12 months based on units tenanted) 5%

Target –  12 month target set by the Board

Loan to value – (LTV) 5%

Target –  12 month target set by the Board measured at 
year end 

Core portfolio growth – (Assets owned for 24 months) 5%

Target –  CPI

Bad debts 5%

Target –  12 month target set by the Board

Calculation of bonus:
Calculation of modifier percentage:
•  If target is not achieved for any 

particular performance measure, the 
weighted achievement will be 0 for 
that measure. 

•  If target is met, the weighted 
achievement will be 100% x the 
applicable weighting. 

•  In the event that the target is exceeded, 
the weighted achievement will be the 
actual achievement (100%+) x the 
applicable weighting. 

•  The weighted achievement scores 
are added together to result in the 
modifier percentage.

Bonus formula:
•  An on-target percentage of 50% is used 

for all executive management. The 
bonus is thus calculated as follows:

•  Annual salary x 50% x modifier 
percentage (sum of all weighted 
achievement scores).

Bonus Exchange for Incentive 
Loan Shares
The Committee has the discretion to offer 
the executive directors loans to acquire 
additional Incentive Loan Shares at R10 in 
loan assistance in exchange for every R1 
bonus earned.  

Indluplace Share Purchase and Option 
Scheme (“the scheme”)
Under this scheme, loans of up to five times 
annual salary (“the loan debt”) are made 
available by the Company to executive 
management to acquire Indluplace shares. 
The scheme aligns the interests of executive 
management with those of shareholders 
through the exposure of executives to the 
share price, and commits the executives 
to the growth in long-term value, and 
sustainability of the Company.

The features of this scheme are as follows:
•  The number of overall shares which may 

be issued in terms of the scheme is the 
lesser of 15% of the total issued share 
capital and 24 000 000 shares.

•  Ownership of the Incentive Loan Shares 
purchased vest immediately in the 
participant, but there is a pledge of the 
shares as security against the loans.

•  The participants are entitled to all 
dividends and distributions attributable 
to the shares, and the rate of interest 
applied to the loan will be equal to 
such distributions.

•  In the case of termination of 
employment of a participant, the loan 
debt will be payable within 6 months of 
the termination, following to which the 
shares are released.
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•  Indluplace has the right to demand 
repayment of the loan debt after ten 
years of acceptance of the offer.

•  The Committee has determined that, for 
the 2018 year going forward, executive 
management will be required to commit 
13% of the value of Incentive Loan 
Shares as a first-loss guarantee for the 
loan debt.

Executive management are not eligible to 
participate in the approved Option scheme.

Detail regarding executives’ service 
contracts including detail of payments 
due on termination of employment  
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer have contracts ending 
June 2020 and March 2019 respectively 
with a two-month notice period. There 
are no restraint of trade clauses. 
There are no contractual obligations to 
executive management in terms of any 
separation payments. 

Policy relating to setting of 
non- executive director fees 
Non-executive Directors’ fees comprise an 
annual fee in recognition of their ongoing 
fiduciary duties and responsibilities. 
Directors who serve on Committees are 
paid an additional fee for the various 
Committees of which they are members.

Fees for 2017 were paid on the basis 
recommended by the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee and by the Board 
and approved by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting held on 25 January 
2017. Proposed fees for 2018 are contained 
within the notice of annual general meeting.

Changes to the remuneration policy 
Pursuant to a review process, certain 
changes were made to the remuneration 
policy. These are summarised below:

•  The performance measures for the 
short-term incentive have been 
revisited, and additional measures of 
strategic importance have been added. 

•  The executive management team must 
provide personal surety equivalent to 
13% of the incentive loan shares value. 

Measures to be taken by the Board in 
the event of a negative vote of 25%  
or more 
In the event that the remuneration policy or 
the implementation report as they appear 
in Part two and three of this report, or both, 
have been voted against by 25% or more 
of the voting rights exercised at the annual 
general meeting, the Board commits to 
the following measures. These measures 
should provide for taking steps in good faith 

and with best reasonable effort, towards 
the following at a minimum: 

•  An engagement process to ascertain the 
reasons for the dissenting votes. 

•  Appropriately addressing legitimate and 
reasonable objections and concerns 
raised, which may include amending 
the remuneration policy, or clarifying 
or adjusting remuneration governance 
and/or processes. 

Further, in the event of negative voting 
outlined above, the Committee commits 
to including details of the following in Part 
one (background statement) of the next 
remuneration report:

•  with whom the company engaged, and 
the manner and form of engagement 
to ascertain the reasons for dissenting 
votes; and

•  the nature of steps taken to address 
legitimate and reasonable objections 
and concerns.

Advisory vote on the 
remuneration policy
Shareholders are requested to cast an 
advisory vote on the remuneration policy 
as it appears in Part II of this report. 
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE
WEIGHTING 

%
ACHIEVEMENT 

%
WEIGHTED 

ACHIEVEMENT

Expected dividend (absolute) 30 – –

Income Growth – growth in dividend in cents 
per share (relative to SAPY) 30 – –

Total return for the year (relative to SAPY) 20 162 32,4

Asset Base growth – cost of new acquisitions 
less disposals for the year as a percentage of 
previous years balance sheet value 20 – –

100 162 32,4

Resulting modifier applied to salary 16,2

R TOTAL

NON-EXECUTIVE FEES FOR 2017

C. Abrams 285 531

T. Adler 422 853

G. Kinross 396 059

S. Noik 285 531

A. Rehman 396 059

1 786 033

Part III

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE POLICY DURING THE 2017 
FINANCIAL YEAR

Increase in non-executive director fees
A 6% increase has been proposed for the 2018 year. The proposed fees for the 2018 year 
are set out in the notice of annual general meeting for shareholder approval.

Annual bonus outcomes 
The achievement of the performance measures for the annual bonus was, as set out below:
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Statement regarding compliance with, and any deviations from, the  
remuneration policy. 
The Committee is satisfied that there was compliance with the remuneration policy during 
the year, and that there were no substantial deviations from the policy during the year.

Voting statement (non-binding advisory vote on the implementation report)
Shareholders are requested to cast an advisory vote on the remuneration implementation 
report as contained in Part III of this report at the upcoming annual general meeting. 

Approval of remuneration report by the board of directors
This remuneration report was approved by the Board of directors.

Termination of office payments 
There were no payments in terms of terminations of employment during the financial year. 

R
GUARANTEED 

PACKAGE
SHORT-TERM 

INCENTIVE

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION FOR 2017

C. de Wit 1 774 440 287 747

T. Kaplan 1 590 000 257 838

M. Kaplan* – –

I. Suleman* – –

3 364 440 545 585
*  M Kaplan and I Suleman are compensated by Arrowhead, it’s majority shareholder. Indluplace pays Arrowhead a 

management fee which includes, amongst other items, their services.
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Financial Director of Indluplace.
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Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual 
financial statements of Indluplace Properties Limited, comprising the statement of financial 
position as at 30 September 2017 and statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended.

To achieve the highest standards of financial reporting, these annual financial statements 
have been drawn up to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act No 71 (“Companies Act”) of 2008, as amended.

The directors’ responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal controls that will ensure the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the 
annual financial statements and other financial information included in this report, selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and conclude 
that estimates and judgments are reasonable. They are of the opinion that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the financial position of the business, its financial 
performance and cashflows for the year to 30 September 2017. 

The external auditors, who have unrestricted access to all records and information, as 
well as to the audit and risk committee, concur with this statement. The directors believe 
that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and 
appropriate. The unqualified audit report of Grant Thornton is presented on pages 47 to 49.
In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash flow forecast for the year to 
30 September 2018 and believe that the company has adequate resources to continue in 
operation for the foreseeable future.

Accordingly, the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. 
These financial statements support the viability of the company.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on  
8 November 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

C. de Wit
CEO

T. Adler
Chairman
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Certification by the company secretary
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, we declare that to the best of our knowledge, for the year 
ended 30 September 2017, Indluplace has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in 
terms of the Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

CIS Company Secretaries
Company Secretary
8 November 2017
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Independent auditor’s report

Report on the financial statements 

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of Indluplace 
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries 
(the group) set out on pages 53 to 83 
which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 30 September 2017, and 
the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statements 
of changes in equity and the statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and 
separate financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of the 
group as at 30 September 2017, and 
its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group in accordance 
with the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of financial statements in 
South Africa. 

We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA 
Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Parts A and B). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

To the shareholders of Indluplace Properties Limited and its subsidiaries
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of 
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The following key audit matter relates to the consolidated and separate 
financial statements. 
 
KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Valuation of Investment Property

Investment property is the group’s 
most significant asset, and is fair valued 
on an annual basis.

Valuations are performed using the 
discounted cash flow methodology.

Forecasting future cash flows and 
applying an appropriate discount 
rate, inherently involves a high 
degree of estimation and judgement 
by management. 

Due to the significance of the balance 
to the financial statements as a whole, 
combined with judgement associated 
with determining the fair value, this 
has been determined to be a Key 
Audit Matter. 

Our audit procedures performed included, among others, 
the evaluation of the methodologies and the significant 
inputs and assumptions applied by the external and internal 
valuators. In particular, those relating to the discount rates, 
growth rates, and forecasts used in the calculations.

We assessed the competence, capabilities, and objectivity 
of the independent valuators, as well as the directors 
who perform the internal valuations, and verified 
their qualifications.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in note 2 to the 
financial statements in relation to the requirements of the 
reporting framework.
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the 
other information. The other information 
comprises the Directors’ Report, the Audit 
Committee’s Report and the Company 
Secretary’s Certificate as required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa, which 
we obtained prior to the date of this 
report, and the Annual Report, which is 
expected to be made available to us after 
that date. Other information does not 
include the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and 
separate financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated 
and separate financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements
The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the group’s and 
the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the 

group and / or the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the group’s and the company’s 
internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by 
the directors. 

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of 
the directors of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit 
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evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the group’s and the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause 
the group and / or the company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated and 
separate financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors 
regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a 
statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the 
directors, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in 
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 
4 December 2015, we report that Grant 
Thornton Johannesburg has been the 
auditor of Indluplace Properties Limited and 
its subsidiaries for 4 years.

Grant Thornton Johannesburg
Registered Auditors
Practice Number  903485E

P. Badrick
Partner
Chartered Accountant (SA)

8 November 2017

@Grant Thornton
Wanderers Office Park
52 Corlett Drive
Illovo, 2196
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Directors’ report
The board has pleasure in submitting 
its directors’ report for the year ended 
30 September 2017.

Nature of business
Indluplace is listed on the JSE (ISIN code: 
ZAE000201125) in the Sector: Financial 
Services – Real Estate Investment Trusts 
(Residential REITs). The Company listed on 
the JSE on 19 June 2015.

The primary business of Indluplace is 
focused on owning a substantial residential 
property portfolio from which it pays 
increasing dividends to its shareholders. The 
company owns a portfolio of 125 residential 
properties which comprise 6 859 residential 
units and 14 803m2 GLA of retail space 
together valued at R2,9 billion located in 
Gauteng, Free State and Mpumalanga in 
South Africa. 

Regulation
As a listed entity, the company is regulated 
by the JSE. 

Review of results for the financial year
The results of the company are addressed 
in the reports of the Chairman and the 
executive directors and are set out in the 
annual financial statements on pages 53 
to 83.

Share capital
The company’s authorised share capital 
comprises 3 000 000 000 ordinary shares of 
no par value. The company’s ordinary shares 
trade on the JSE.

During the year ended 30 September 2017 
the following shares were issued pursuant 
to the general authority to issue shares 
for cash:
•  48 974 542 shares were issued through 

an accelerated book build, at R10,05 per 
share, on 30 June 2017; and

•  910 000 and 810 860 shares 
were issued, at R9,30 per share, 
on 15 December 2016 and 
6 February 2017, respectively to 
Participants in the Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme.

Dividend policy
The company declared and paid quarterly 
dividends in respect of the 2017 
financial year.

In considering the payment of dividends, the 
board, with the audit and risk committee’s 
assurance, takes the following into account:
•  the financial status of the company as 

at the end of each quarter, subject to 
solvency and liquidity testing as required 
by the Companies Act; and

•  the capital commitments of the company 
and its funding requirements.

DIVIDEND 
NUMBER

QUARTER ENDED DIVIDEND 
(RANDS) 

DIVIDEND PER SHARE 
(CENTS)

7 31 December 2016 57 654 491 23,82951

8 31 March 2017 59 796 630 24,71489

9 30 June 2017 71 505 648 24,72452

10 30 September 2017* 77 830 078 24,48003

266 786 847 97,74895

* On 8 November 2017 the Board approved and declared dividend number 10.

These dividends have been declared 
from distributable earnings and meet 
the requirements of a REIT “qualifying 
distribution” for purposes of section 25BB 
of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962, 
as amended.

Change in directorate
As released on SENS on 19 December 2016, 
Gerald Leissner, one of Indluplace’s founders 
and executive directors, passed away on 
Friday, 16 December 2016. Yondela Silimela 
has been appointed as an independent 
non- executive director to the board with 
effect from 1 November 2017.

The directors of the company at the date of 
this report are:

Executive directors:
C. de Wit, M. Kaplan, T. Kaplan, I. Suleman.

Independent non-executive directors: 
C. Abrams, G. Kinross, A. Rehman, Y. Silimela 
(appointed 1 November 2017).

Non-independent non-executive 
directors:
T. Adler, S. Noik.

Brief curriculum vitae of the directors have 
been included on pages 5 to 7.

Dividends
The following dividends were declared during the year:
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BENEFICIAL 

DIRECT
BENEFICIAL 

INDIRECT TOTAL
BENEFICIAL 

DIRECT
BENEFICIAL 

INDIRECT TOTAL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

C. de Wit   – 2 657 936 2 657 936   –  1 757 936  1 757 936 

M. Kaplan   –  5 273 809  5 273 809   –  5 273 809  5 273 809 

T. Kaplan – 810 860 810 860 – – –

G. Leissner   –  –  –   –  5 273 809  5 273 809 

I. Suleman   –  5 273 809  5 273 809   –  5 273 809  5 273 809 

   – 14 016 414 14 016 414   –  17 579 363  17 579 363 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

S. Noik 40 000 2 000 42 000 40 000 2 000 42 000 

40 000 14 018 414 14 058 414 40 000 17 581 363 17 621 363 

Directors’ interests
The interests of the directors in the shares of the company at 30 September 2017 were as follows:

There have been no changes in these 
holdings between the year-end and the 
date of this report. 

Directors’ interests in contracts
The company has not entered into any 
contracts in which a director has a material 
interest during the year under review.

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the 
company has adequate resources to 

continue operating for the foreseeable 
future and that it is appropriate to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the 
group’s and company’s financial statements. 
The directors have satisfied themselves 
that the company is in a sound financial 
position and that it has access to sufficient 
borrowings facilities to meet its foreseeable 
cash requirements.

Events after the reporting period end
In terms of the Buffet transaction 
announced on SENS on 28 September 
2017, Indluplace acquired 2 803 residential 
units and 2 970 m2 of retail space, which 
became effective 1 October 2017. To fund 
this transaction, Indluplace entered into 
finance agreements with ABSA and Investec 
for an amount of R1,5 billion combined 
with issuing 28 723 404 shares post year 
end to the vendors and in terms of the sale 
agreement. Indluplace’s loan to value (LTV) 

ratio post the transaction, on the basis that 
only R1,23 billion was utilised in terms of 
the bank finance, increases from 6,8% to 
32,9%. The facility comprises a R100 million 
revolving credit facility, R645 million expiring 
in three years and R484 million expiring 
in five years with a blended funding cost 
of 9,4%. Other than the Buffet transaction 
and dividend number 10 declared on 
8 November 2017, the directors are not 
aware of any other matter or circumstances 
arising since the end of the financial 
reporting period until date of this report.

2017 2016
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NAME OF SUBSIDIARY OWNED %

427 Windsor Proprietary Limited* 100
Aloegate Proprietary Limited 100
Aptotrim Proprietary Limited 100

Barvicarl Proprietary Limited 100

Dalem Mews Proprietary Limited* 100
Earls Den Proprietary Limited* 100
Erf 737 Rosettenville Proprietary Limited 100
Diluculo Properties Proprietary Limited 100
G and N Tarn Proprietary Limited 100
Helen Joy Holdings Proprietary Limited 100
Houghton Mansions Proprietary Limited 100
Indluprop I Proprietary Limited 100
Indluprop II Proprietary Limited* 100
Jika Properties Proprietary Limited 100
Karavas Proprietary Limited* 100
Kenwyn Flats Proprietary Limited* 100
Monks Court Proprietary Limited 100
Myso Holdings Proprietary Limited 100
NDF Investments and Trading Proprietary Limited 100
Park Chambers Share Block Proprietary Limited 100
Pondos Investments Proprietary Limited 100
Radzyn Investments Proprietary Limited* 100
Resico Proprietary Limited 100
Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 103 Proprietary Limited 100
Teaca Properties Proprietary Limited* 100
Triad Proprietary Limited* 100
* Owned by Jika Properties Proprietary Limited.

C. de Wit
CEO
Rosebank
8 November 2017

Group structure
The group subsidiaries are listed in the table below. Major shareholders

Beneficial shareholders holding in excess of 3% of the units in issue are detailed on page 101 
of the annual report.

Directors’ service contracts and remuneration
In terms of the service contracts agreed between the executive directors and the company, 
C. de Wit is contracted until 1 June 2020 and T. Kaplan is contracted until 1 March 2019. Refer 
to note 15 for further details regarding directors’ remuneration and fees.

Auditors
Grant Thornton Johannesburg has been appointed in terms of section 90 of the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008.
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COMPANYGROUPFinancial position
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

R NOTES 2017 2016 2017 2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets  3 137 624 685  2 567 674 551  3 130 538 459  2 449 801 442 

Investment property  2 945 718 828  2 391 762 000  1 625 157 829  1 555 440 000 

Fair value of investment property 2  2 942 468 514  2 389 025 120  1 623 512 308  1 554 379 016 

Straight line rental income accrual 3  3 250 314  2 736 880  1 645 521  1 060 984 

Computer software 4  201 229  118 921  201 229  118 921 

Loans to participants of Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme 5  191 704 628  175 793 630  191 704 628  175 793 630 

Investment in subsidiaries 6 – –  191 423 893  191 423 793 

Loans to subsidiaries 6 –  – 1 122 050 880  527 025 098 

Current assets  109 686 991  93 894 256  74 659 636  70 788 888 

Trade and other receivables 7  68 738 896  46 589 696  33 711 541  23 484 328 

Loan to shareholder 8 –  1 037 797 –  1 037 797 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  40 948 095  46 266 763  40 948 095  46 266 763 

Total assets  3 247 311 676  2 661 568 807  3 205 198 095  2 520 590 330 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ interest  2 978 791 568  2 458 890 539  2 911 113 784  2 340 330 146 

Stated capital 10  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709 

Reserves  223 610 815  184 353 830  155 933 031  65 793 437 

Non-current liabilities  203 211 727  151 845 219  281 079 348  178 199 101 

Secured financial liabilities 11  199 599 178  149 390 178  199 599 178  149 390 178 

Derivative instruments 12  3 612 549  2 455 041  3 612 549  2 455 041 

Loans from subsidiaries 6  –  –  77 867 621  26 353 882 

Current liabilities  65 308 381  50 833 049  13 004 963  2 061 083 

Trade and other payables 13  65 308 381  50 833 049  13 004 963  2 061 083 

Total equity and liabilities  3 247 311 676  2 661 568 807  3 205 198 095  2 520 590 330 

Number of shares in issue at year-end 289 209 449 240 234 907

Net asset value per ordinary shares (cents) 1 029,98 1 023,54

Statement of
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COMPANYGROUPComprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

Statement of

R NOTES 2017 2016 2017 2016

Property portfolio revenue

Contractual rental income  330 048 127  284 565 745  11 545 436  11 534 045 

Recoveries  79 328 680  64 420 785  4 277 573  3 110 902 

Straight line rental income accrual 3  513 434  2 052 249  584 537  376 353 

Dividends received from subsidiaries  –  –  301 404 158  157 538 487 

Total revenue  409 890 241  351 038 779  317 811 704  172 559 787 

Operating costs  (153 281 298)  (130 562 553)  (7 767 025)  (10 474 184)

Administration costs  (13 409 923)  (11 845 062)  (13 409 923)  (11 845 062)

Net operating profit 14  243 199 020  208 631 164  296 634 756  150 240 541 

Changes in fair values 16  35 723 690  35 722 600  33 910 207  49 084 293 

Profit from operations  278 922 710  244 353 764  330 544 963  199 324 834 

Net finance income 17  5 384 045  12 039 678  4 644 401  11 785 760 

Finance charges  (26 006 997)  (7 633 994)  (25 895 669)  (7 561 127)

Finance income  31 391 042  19 673 672  30 540 070  19 346 887 

Profit before taxation  284 306 755  256 393 442  335 189 364  211 110 594 

Taxation 18 – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year  284 306 755  256 393 442  335 189 364  211 110 594 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 112,15 108,48
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GROUP COMPANY

Changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

Statement of

R STATED CAPITAL RESERVES TOTAL STATED CAPITAL RESERVES TOTAL

Balance at 30 September 2015  1 786 251 674  148 596 834  1 934 848 508  1 786 251 674  75 319 289  1 861 570 963 

Issue of shares  488 285 035  –  488 285 035  488 285 035  –  488 285 035 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  256 393 442  256 393 442  –  211 110 594  211 110 594 

Dividends  –  (220 636 446)  (220 636 446)  –  (220 636 446)  (220 636 446)

Balance at 30 September 2016  2 274 536 709  184 353 830  2 458 890 539  2 274 536 709  65 793 437  2 340 330 146 

Issue of shares  480 644 044  –  480 644 044  480 644 044  –  480 644 044 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  284 306 755  284 306 755  –  335 189 364  335 189 364 

Dividends –  (245 049 770)  (245 049 770) –  (245 049 770)  (245 049 770)

Balance at 30 September 2017  2 755 180 753  223 610 815  2 978 791 568  2 755 180 753  155 933 031  2 911 113 784 

Note:  10 10
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COMPANYGROUPCash flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

Statement of

R NOTES 2017 2016 2017 2016

Net cash (utilised)/generated from operating activities  (4 383 862)  13 187 080  56 631 661  (75 591 904)

Cash generated from operations 20.2  235 281 863  221 783 848  297 037 030  133 258 782 

Dividend paid  (245 049 770)  (220 636 446)  (245 049 770)  (220 636 446)

Finance charges paid  (26 006 997)  (7 633 994)  (25 895 669)  (7 561 127)

Finance income received  31 391 042  19 673 672  30 540 070  19 346 887 

Net cash utilised in investing activities  (516 705 648)  (640 204 579)  (577 721 171)  (551 425 594) 

Net acquisition of investment property  (516 562 197)  (640 074 750)  (34 065 577)  (636 455 299)

Net acquisition of computer software 4  (143 451)  (129 829)  (143 451)  (129 829)

Investment in subsidiaries – – (100) –

Net movements of loans to subsidiaries  –  –  (543 512 043)  85 159 534 

Net cash generated from financing activities  515 770 842  637 878 453  515 770 842  637 878 452 

Net proceeds from share issue  464 733 045  488 285 035  464 733 045  488 285 035 

Proceeds from secured financial liabilities  50 000 000  150 000 000  50 000 000  150 000 000 

Loan from shareholder  1 037 797  (406 582)  1 037 797  (406 853)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (5 318 668)  10 860 954  (5 318 668)  10 860 954 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  46 266 763  35 405 809  46 266 763  35 405 809 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 9  40 948 095  46 266 763  40 948 095  46 266 763 
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1. Accounting policies
The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), 
SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices 
Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements 
and the requirements of the South 
African Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended.

The financial statements are prepared 
on the historic cost basis, except for 
investment properties and certain financial 
instruments which are carried at fair value, 
and incorporate the principal accounting 
policies set out below. 

1.1 Basis of preparation
The accounting policies applied by the 
group, and the preparation of these 
annual financial statements are consistent 
with the accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of the previous annual 
financial statements.

1.2 Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements include 
those of the holding company and 
enterprises controlled by the company. 
Control is achieved when the company 

has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an investee enterprise. 
An investor controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. 
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, 
expenses and cash flows of the group 
and all entities controlled by the group. 
Inter-company transactions, balances and 
unrealised profits or losses between group 
companies are eliminated on consolidation.

(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the 
company has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of the 
entities so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. In assessing control, potential 
voting rights that are presently exercisable 
or convertible are taken into account. In 
the separate financial statements of the 
company, investments in subsidiaries are 
accounted for at cost and adjusted for 
impairment if applicable.

The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, 
expenses and cash flows of the group and 
all entities controlled by the group. The 

results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the 
consolidated profit or loss from the date 
of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. 
Inter-company transactions, balances and 
unrealised profits or losses between group 
companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations are accounted 
for using the acquisition method as at 
the acquisition date, which is the date on 
which control is transferred to the group. 
Judgement is applied in determining the 
acquisition date and determining whether 
control is transferred from one party 
to another.

The group measures goodwill at the 
acquisition date as follows:
•  the fair value of the consideration 

transferred; plus
•  the recognised amount of the 

non- controlling interests in the 
acquiree; plus

 •  if the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the fair value of the existing 
equity interest in the acquiree; less

•  the net recognised amount (generally 
fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.

Where the excess is negative this is 
immediately recognised in profit or loss as a 
gain on a bargain purchase.

A “business” is defined as an integrated 
set of activities and assets that is capable 
of being conducted and managed for the 
purpose of providing a return in the form 
of dividends, lower costs or other economic 
benefits directly to investors or other 
owners, members or participants.

A “business combination” is defined as 
a transaction or other event in which an 
acquirer obtains control of one or more 
businesses. If a business combination 
results in the termination of pre-existing 
relationships between the group and the 
acquiree, then the lower of the termination 
amount, as contained in the agreement, 
and the value of the off-market element 
is deducted from the consideration 
transferred and recognised in profit or loss. 
Costs related to the acquisition, other than 
those associated with the issue of debt or 
equity securities, that the group incurs in 
connection with a business combination 
are expensed as incurred. Costs associated 
with the issue of debt or equity securities 
are recorded directly in the statement 
of changes in equity. Any contingent 
consideration payable is recognised at 

Notes to the financial statement
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fair value at the acquisition date. If the 
contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, it is not remeasured and settlement 
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise 
subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognised in 
profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling 
interest holders
The group applies a policy of treating 
transactions with non-controlling interest 
holders as transactions with equity holders 
of the group. Disposals to non-controlling 
interest holders that do not result in the 
loss of control, result in gains and losses 
for the group that are recorded directly in 
the statement of changes in equity. The 
difference between any consideration 
paid and the relevant share of the net 
asset value acquired from non-controlling 
interests is recorded directly in the 
statement of changes in equity.

1.3 Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give 
rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity.

Financial instruments are recognised on 
the statement of financial position when 

the group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. The group 
initially recognises a financial instrument as 
a financial asset,a financial liability or as an 
equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

The group derecognises a financial asset 
when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the rights to receive the contractual cash 
flows on the financial asset in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred. Any interest in financial 
assets that is created or retained by the 
entity is recognised as a separate asset 
or liability.

The group derecognises a financial liability 
when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these instruments are 
measured as follows:

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivable are initially 
recognised at fair value including 

transaction costs and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Trade 
and other receivables are presented 
net of an allowance for impairment. The 
allowance for impairment is raised based 
on the difference between the carrying 
value of the receivables and the present 
value of expected future cash flows using 
the discount rate calculated at initial 
recognition. Movements in the provision are 
recognised in profit or loss. Unrecoverable 
amounts are written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of previously written off amounts are 
credited to profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances and call deposits. Cash and cash 
equivalents are highly liquid, short term 
investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash. These investments 
are subject to insignificant risk in change 
in value. Cash and cash equivalents 
are measured at amortised cost that 
approximates fair value.

Loans to participants of the Indluplace 
Share Purchase and Options Scheme
Loans to participants of the Indluplace 
Share Purchase and Option Scheme result 

from shares issued to the directors and 
employees of Indluplace at market value. 
The loans bear interest at a equal rate to 
the distribution declared and is calculated 
at 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 
30 September and is repayable at any 
time by the employee but not later than 
10 years from the granting of the loan. The 
distributions received on the shares are 
used to repay the interest accumulated on 
the loans.

Financial liabilities
Interest bearing borrowings
Interest bearing borrowings are recognised 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Any raising costs that 
are incurred on interest bearing borrowings 
are offset against the debt balance and 
recognised as additional interest using the 
effective interest rate method over the term 
of the loan. The finance cost is recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which it 
accrues.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, with gains or 
losses being recognised in profit or loss.
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Derivative instruments
The group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its exposure to 
interest rate risks arising from its financing 
activities. Derivative financial instruments 
are initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value. The gain or loss on 
remeasurement to fair value is recognised 
in profit or loss. The group holds interest 
rate swaps. The fair value of the interest 
rate swap is the estimated amount 
that the group would receive or pay to 
terminate the swap at the reporting date, 
taking into account current interest rates 
and the current creditworthiness of the 
swap counterparties.

Offset
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported in 
the statement of financial position when 
the group has a legally enforceable right 
to set off the recognised amounts, and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Where the carrying amounts of short term 
financial instruments carried at amortised cost 
approximate their amortised cost value and 
the impact of discounting is not considered to 
be material, no discounting is applied.

1.4 Investment property
Investment properties are properties held 
for the purpose of earning rental income 
and for capital appreciation. Investment 
properties are initially recorded at cost and 
include transaction costs on acquisition. 
Subsequent expenditure to add to or 
replace a part of the property is capitalised 
at cost. Investment property is valued 
annually and adjusted to fair value as at 
statement of financial position date.

Independent valuations are obtained on 
a rotational basis, ensuring that every 
property is valued at least once every three 
years by an external independent valuer. 
The remaining properties are valued by the 
directors annually on an open market basis.

The proposed net profit budget relating 
to each internally valued property for the 
following year is used in conjunction with 
a discounted cash flow model to calculate 
the fair value adjustment value of the 
investment property. The discount, yield 
and reversion rate used in the discounted 
cash flow calculation reflects the risks 
anticipated in the geographical area.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in 
the fair value of the investment property is 
included in net profit for the year.

Gains and losses on the disposal of 
investment properties are recognised in 
net profit and loss and is calculated as the 
difference between the sale price and the 
carrying value of the property.

1.5 Computer software
Computer software is recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Computer software is depreciated on a 
straight line basis over the current useful 
life of the assets. The estimated useful life 
of the asset is 3 years. The useful lives and 
residual values are reassessed at the end 
of each reporting period and adjusted if 
necessary. The depreciation on computer 
software is recognised in profit or loss in 
the year in which it occurred. The gain or 
loss on computer software is determined 
by subtracting the carrying value from 
the net disposal proceeds on date of 
sale. The gain or loss on sale of computer 
software is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and is not classified 
as revenue. Subsequent expenditure 
relating to an item of computer software is 
capitalised when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
the cost can be measured reliably. All other 
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which it incurred.

1.6 Revenue recognition
a)  Property portfolio revenue
Property portfolio revenue comprises 
operating lease income and operating cost 
recoveries from the letting of investment 
properties. Operating lease income is 
recognised on a straight–line basis over the 
term of the lease. Operating cost recoveries 
are recognised two months in arrears from 
incurring the expense. Contingent rents 
(turnover rentals) are included in revenue 
when the amount can be reliably measured.

b)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest rate method.

c) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when 
shareholders’ right to receive income 
is established.

1.7 Impairment of non–financial assets
The carrying value of assets are reviewed 
for impairment at each reporting date. 
Assets are impaired when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying values may not be recoverable. 
If such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated 
recoverable amounts, the assets are written 
down to their recoverable amounts.
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Recoverable amount is determined as 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
or value in use. Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount for an 
individual asset, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash–generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

1.8 Employee short–term benefits
The cost of all short–term employee 
benefits is recognised during the period in 
which the employees render the related 
service. Short–term employee benefits 
are measured on an undiscounted basis. 
The accrual for employee entitlements 
to salaries, bonuses and annual leave 
represents the amount which the group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay as a result of the employees’ services 
provided up to the reporting date.

1.9 Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

1.10 Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of 
the company that engages in business 
activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses. The operating results 
are reviewed regularly by executive 

management to make decisions about and 
to assess the performance of the segment.

On a primary basis the operations are 
organised into geographical major business 
segments. The operating segments are 
based on the International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

1.11 Stated capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
External costs directly attributable to 
the issue of new shares are shown as a 
deduction in equity from the proceeds.

1.12 Key estimates and assumptions
Estimates and assumptions, an integral part 
of financial reporting, have an impact on the 
amounts reported for the company’s assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Judgement 
in these areas is based on historical 
experience and reasonable expectations 
relating to future events. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. Information on 
the key estimations and uncertainties that 
have the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised are set out in the following 
notes to the financial statements:

•  Accounting policies – notes 1.4, 1.5, 
1.6, 1.7;

•  Investment property valuation –  
note 2; and

• Impairment of receivables – note 6.

Further matters that require key judgement 
in the preparation of these annual financial 
statements are:

Payment for the acquisition of 
investment properties
In the current year, the acquisitions of 
investment properties were treated as 
property acquisitions in terms of IAS 40 
– ‘Investment Properties’. In the opinion 
of the directors these properties did not 
constitute a business as defined in terms 
of IFRS 3, as there were not adequate 
processes identified with these properties 
to warrant classification as businesses.

Deferred taxation
As the group is a REIT, no provision for 
current tax has been provided as the 
group’s distributable income is paid to the 
shareholders. No deferred tax has been 
provided on property fair value movements 
as no capital gains tax is payable on 
disposal of properties due to the REIT 
legislation. No deferred tax is provided on 
any other timing differences as the group 
does not expect to have taxable income in 
the foreseeable future.

1.13 Standards and interpretations 
applicable to the company not yet 
effective
There are new or revised accounting 
standards and interpretations in issue that 
are not yet effective. These include the 
following standards and interpretations that 
are material to the business and may have 
an impact on future financial statements, 
or those for which the impact has not yet 
been assessed. These standards were not 
early adopted.
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STANDARD DETAILS OF AMENDMENTS

ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON

OR AFTER

IFRS 9 – 
Financial 
statements

A final version of IFRS 9 has been issued 
which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. 

1 January 2018

IFRS 12 – 
Disclosure 
of Interest in 
Other Entities

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle: 
Clarification of the scope of IFRS 12 with respect 
to interests in entities classified as held for sale 
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

1 January 2017

IFRS 15 – 
Revenue from 
contracts with 
customers

New standard that requires entities to recognise 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
goods or services. This core principle is achieved 
through a five step methodology that is required 
to be applied to all contracts with customers.

1 January 2018

The new standard will also result in enhanced 
disclosures about revenue, provide guidance for 
transactions that were not previously addressed 
comprehensively and improve guidance for 
multiple-element arrangements.

STANDARD DETAILS OF AMENDMENTS

ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON

OR AFTER

IFRS 16 – 
Leases

New standard that introduces a single lessee 
accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee 
is required to recognise a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying 
leased asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments. A lessee 
measures right-of-use assets similarly to other 
non-financial assets (such as property, plant and 
equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other 
financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee 
recognises depreciation of the right-of-use 
asset and interest on the lease liability, and also 
classifies cash repayments of the lease liability 
into a principal portion and an interest portion 
and presents them in the statement of cash 
flows applying IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.

1 January 2019

IFRS 16 contains expanded disclosure 
requirements for lessees. Lessees will need 
to apply judgement in deciding upon the 
information to disclose to meet the objective 
of providing a basis for users of financial 
statements to assess the effect that leases have 
on the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of the lessee.
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STANDARD DETAILS OF AMENDMENTS

ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON

OR AFTER

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a 
lessor continues to classify its leases as operating 
leases or finance leases, and to account for those 
two types of leases differently.

IFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be 
provided by lessors that will improve information 
disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, 
particularly to residual value risk.

IFRS 16 supersedes the following Standards and 
Interpretations:
– IAS 17 Leases;
–  IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 

contains a Lease;
– SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives; and
–  SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of 

Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease.

STANDARD DETAILS OF AMENDMENTS

ANNUAL PERIODS 
BEGINNING ON

OR AFTER

IAS 7 – 
Statement of 
Cash Flows

Disclosure Initiative: Amendments requiring 
entities to disclose information about changes 
in their financing liabilities. The additional 
disclosures will help investors to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including changes from cash flows and 
non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange 
gains or losses).

1 January 2017

IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property: Clarification 
of the requirements on transfers to, or from, 
investment property

1 January 2018

The directors have not yet determined what the impact of these new Standards and 
Interpretation on the company will be.
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COMPANYGROUP

Full details of investment properties owned 
by the company are contained in the register 
of investment properties which is open for 
inspection by members at the registered office of 
the company (see page 84).

In terms of the accounting policy, the portfolio 
is valued annually. More than one third of 
the properties were valued by Real Insight 
and Yield Enhancement Solutions, registered 
valuers in terms of Section 19 of the Property 
Valuers Professional Act (Act No 47 of 2000). 
The remaining properties were valued by 
the directors. 

The valuations were performed using the 
discounted cash flow methodology. This 
method is based on an open market basis 
with consideration given to the future earnings 
potential and applying an appropriate 
capitalisation rates. The unobservable inputs 
utilised in the Investment Property fair value 
calculation are as follows:
• Contractual rental escalation 0% to 8%;
• Expense escalation 5% to 12%;
• Vacancy percentage 0% to 7,5%; and
• Capitalisation rate 9% to 11,75%.

If the capitalisation rates increased or decreased 
by 0,5%, investment property, measured using 
the discounted net cashflow method, would 
range between R2,856bn and R3,044bn. Refer 
to note 25 for further details of the fair value 
hierarchy.

Investment properties are encumbered as set out 
in note 11.

R   2017   2016   2017   2016

2. Investment property
NET CARRYING VALUE

Cost  2 764 282 244  2 247 720 048  1 479 532 169  1 445 466 592 

Fair value surplus  178 186 270  141 305 072  143 980 139  108 912 424 

Fair value of investment property  2 942 468 514  2 389 025 120  1 623 512 308  1 554 379 016 

MOVEMENT FOR THE YEAR

Investment properties at the beginning of year  2 389 025 120  1 710 772 729  1 554 379 016  866 384 383 

Acquisitions  499 250 000  632 323 994  24 250 000  632 323 994 

Improvements to buildings  17 312 197  7 750 756  9 815 577  4 131 305 

Change in fair value  36 881 197  38 177 641  35 067 715  51 539 334 

Balance at the end of the year  2 942 468 514  2 389 025 120  1 623 512 308  1 554 379 016 

RECONCILIATION TO VALUATION

Fair value of investment property  2 942 468 514  2 389 025 120  1 623 512 308  1 554 379 016 

Straight line rental income accrual  3 250 314  2 736 880  1 645 521  1 060 984 

Investment properties per valuations  2 945 718 828  2 391 762 000  1 625 157 829  1 555 440 000 

3. Straight line rental income accrual
Balance at the beginning of the year  2 736 880  684 631  1 060 984  684 631 

Movement for the year  513 434  2 052 249  584 537  376 353 

Balance at the end of the year  3 250 314  2 736 880  1 645 521  1 060 984 
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GROUP COMPANY

The loans were granted to the executive 
directors and employees for the purpose of 
subscribing for shares in the Company as per 
the Indluplace Share Purchase and Option 
Scheme and in terms of the Companies Act. 
The shares have been pledged as security 
against the loans.

The loans bear interest at the rate equal to 
the dividend declared which is calculated 
at 31 December, 31 March, 30 June and 
30 September and are repayable at any time by 
the employee but not later than 10 years from 
the making of the loan. The dividend received 
on the shares are used to repay the interest 
accumulated on the loans.

In terms of the recourse available to the 
company, the Directors or the entities to whom 
the shares have been issued remain liable for 
the relevant outstanding scheme debt.

R   2017 2016 2017 2016

4. Computer software
Computer software  201 229  118 921  201 229  118 921 

Cost  273 280  129 829  273 280  129 829 

Accumulated depreciation  (72 051)  (10 908)  (72 051)  (10 908)

MOVEMENT FOR THE YEAR

Balance at beginning of year  118 921  –  118 921  – 

NET ACQUISITIONS

Additions  143 451  129 829  143 451  129 829 

Depreciation  (61 143)  (10 908)  (61 143)  (10 908)

Balance at the end of the year  201 229  118 921  201 229  118 921 

5. Loans to participants of Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme
Balance at the beginning of the year  175 793 630  175 793 630  175 793 630  175 793 630 

Loans advanced to directors  15 910 998  –  15 910 998  – 

Interest charged on loans  18 662 768  16 280 431  18 662 768  16 280 431 

Repayments  (13 940 514)  (12 175 785)  (13 940 514)  (12 175 785)

Transferred to trade and other receivables (refer to note 7)  (4 722 254)  (4 104 646)  (4 722 254)  (4 104 646)

Balance at the end of the year  191 704 628  175 793 630  191 704 628  175 793 630 

DISCLOSED AS FOLLOWS:

Non-current asset  191 704 628  175 793 630  191 704 628  175 793 630 
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R   2017 2016 2017 2016

OWING BY THE FOLLOWING DIRECTORS :

G. Leissner

2015 year –  issued 5 273 809 shares  
at R10,00 on 19 June 2015  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090 

M. Kaplan 

2015 year –  issued 5 273 809 shares  
at R10,00 on 19 June 2015  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090 

I. Suleman 

2015 year –  issued 5 273 809 shares  
at R10,00 on 19 June 2015  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090  52 738 090 

C. de Wit 

2015 year –  issued 1 757 936 shares  
at R10,00 on 19 June 2015  17 579 360  17 579 360  17 579 360  17 579 360 

2016 year –  issued 900 000 shares  
at R9,30 on 30 November 2016  8 370 000  –  8 370 000  – 

T. Kaplan

2016 year –  issued 810 860 shares  
at R9,30 on 1 December 2016  7 540 998  –  7 540 998  – 

 191 704 628  175 793 630  191 704 628  175 793 630 
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R   2017 2016 2017 2016

6. Interest in subsidiaries
a) Investment in subsidiaries
Aloegate Proprietary Limited  –  –  20 418 740  20 418 740 

Aptotrim Proprietary Limited  –  –  13 449 481  13 449 481 

Barvicarl Proprietary Limited  –  –  2 573 099  2 573 099 

Diluculo Properties Proprietary Limited – –  100  – 

Erf 737 Rosettenville Proprietary Limited  –  –  3 552 511  3 552 511 

G and N Tarn Proprietary Limited  –  –  16 182 237  16 182 237 

Helen Joy Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  –  6 009 811  6 009 811 

Houghton Mansions Proprietary Limited  –  –  1 185 154  1 185 154 

Indlu Prop I Proprietary Limited  –  –  100  100 

Jika Properties Proprietary Limited  –  –  56 556 388  56 556 388 

Monks Court Proprietary Limited  –  –  5 445 568  5 445 568 

Myso Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  –  11 906 069  11 906 069 

NDF Investments and Trading Proprietary Limited  –  –  14 118 798  14 118 798 

Park Chambers Share Block Proprietary Limited  –  –  2 617 910  2 617 910 

Pondos Investments Proprietary Limited  –  –  11 435 208  11 435 208 

Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 103 Proprietary Limited  –  –  25 972 719  25 972 719 

  –  –  191 423 893  191 423 793 
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R   2017 2016 2017 2016

b) Loans to/(from) subsidiaries
Aloegate Proprietary Limited  –  –  43 383 341  43 383 341 

Aptotrim Proprietary Limited  –  –  10 999 492  10 999 492 

Barvicarl Proprietary Limited  –  –  610 749  610 749 

Diluculo Properties Proprietary Limited – –  484 145 617 –

Erf 737 Rosettenville Proprietary Limited  –  –  186 864  186 864 

G and N Tarn Proprietary Limited  –  –  772 374  772 374 

Helen Joy Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  –  565 578  565 578 

Houghton Mansions Proprietary Limited  –  –  4 331 352  4 331 352 

Indlu Prop I Proprietary Limited – –  71 926 531  (26 353 882)

Indlu Prop II Proprietary Limited – –  (77 867 621) –

Jika Properties Proprietary Limited  –  –  449 017 129  410 063 495 

Monks Court Proprietary Limited  –  –  1 274 327  1 274 327 

Myso Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  –  516 287  516 287 

NDF Investments and Trading Proprietary Limited  –  –  2 496 830  2 496 830 

Park Chambers Share Block Proprietary Limited  –  –  9 652 453  9 652 453 

Pondos Investments Proprietary Limited  –  –  798 987  798 987 

Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 103 Proprietary Limited  –  –  41 372 969  41 372 969 

 –  –  1 044 183 259  500 671 216 

DISCLOSED AS FOLLOWS:

Non-current asset – Investment in subsidiaries  –  –  191 423 893  191 423 793 

Non-current asset – Loans to subsidiaries – –  1 122 050 880  527 025 098

Non-current liability – Loans from subsidiaries  –  –  77 867 621  26 353 882 

The loans are unsecured and have no fixed 
terms of repayment. The loans approximate 
fair value value as the entities have ceded their 
net income to the holding companies. The 
cession of the net income of the subsidiaries to 
the holding companies effectively includes an 
implied charge for interest payable on the loans 
which would be payable in the absence of the 
cessionary agreements. Any amounts in excess of 
a fair finance charge would be regarded to be a 
deemed dividend.
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The allowance for doubtful debts has been 
determined on a tenant by tenant basis. 
Receivables past due but not impaired are 
believed to be collectable due to the nature of 
the tenant, payment history and deposit held.

R 2017 2016 2017 2016

7. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables  4 064 690  2 276 825  109 524  280 998 
Allowance for doubtful debts  (791 693)  (356 936)  –   (77 985)
Net trade receivables  3 272 997  1 919 889  109 524  203 013 
Municipal deposits  2 011 771  1 896 787  1 021 573  1 237 157 
Receivables from property managers  36 166 956  26 299 176  20 511 600  8 205 285 
Interest receivable for SWAP –  1 126 767 –  1 126 767 
Arrowhead Properties Limited  2 739 669 –  2 739 669 –
VAT  434 669  713 714  1 307 685  713 714 
Adjustment accounts  18 704 177  10 164 460  2 774 615  7 618 763 
Prepayments 686 403  364 257  524 621  274 983 
Interest receivable from Participants of the Indluplace 
Share Purchase and Option Scheme (refer to note 5)  4 722 254  4 104 646  4 722 254  4 104 646 

 68 738 896  46 589 696  33 711 541  23 484 328 
AGEING OF RECEIVABLES PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

As at 30 September 2017 trade receivables for the group of RNil (2016: RNil) and for the company of RNil (2016: RNil) were past due but not impaired.
AGEING OF IMPAIRED RECEIVABLES

30 days  –  200 284  –  38 316 
60 days  465 186  89 667  –  12 025 
90 days  198 304  42 998  –  12 948 
120+ days  128 203  23 987  –  14 696 

 791 693  356 936  –  77 985 
MOVEMENT ON THE IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

Balance at the beginning of the year  356 936  –  77 985  – 
Impairment losses recognised on receivables  434 757  356 936  (77 985)  77 985 
Balance at the end of the year  791 693  356 936  –  77 985 
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The unissued shares are under the control of 
the directors. 

R 2017 2016 2017 2016

8. Loan to shareholder
Loan to Arrowhead Properties Limited –  1 037 797 –  1 037 797 

DISCLOSED AS FOLLOWS:

Current asset –  1 037 797 –  1 037 797 

9. Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents comprise:

Bank balances  40 948 095  46 266 763  40 948 095  46 266 763 

10. Stated capital
AUTHORISED

3 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value  3 000 000 000  3 000 000 000  3 000 000 000  3 000 000 000 

ISSUED   

289 209 449 (2016: 240 234 907) ordinary shares  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709 

MOVEMENT OF NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

Balance at the beginning of the year  240 234 907  193 373 003  240 234 907  193 373 003 

Shares issued during the year  48 974 542  46 861 904  48 974 542  46 861 904 

Balance at the end of the year  289 209 449  240 234 907  289 209 449  240 234 907 

MOVEMENT FOR THE YEAR   

Balance at the beginning of the year  2 274 536 709  1 786 251 674  2 274 536 709  1 786 251 674 

Shares issued during the year  490 910 999  490 999 992  490 910 999  490 999 992 

Capital issue expenses  (10 266 955)  (2 714 957)  (10 266 955)  (2 714 957)

Balance at the end of the year  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709  2 755 180 753  2 274 536 709 

The loan is unsecured and the non-current 
portion has no fixed terms of repayment. 

Cash is invested with Standard Bank
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The secured financial liabilities are secured over 
investment property valued at R690,9 million 
(2016: R696,9 mil). At year-end, the company had 
unutilised facilities of RNil (2016: R50 000 000). 
The gearing ratio is 6,8% (2016: 6,3%).

R 2017 2016 2017 2016

11. Secured financial liabilities
STANDARD BANK

Secured by mortgage over investment properties, 
R150 million bears interest at a fixed rate of 
10,11%, which expires on 1 September 2019. 
The balance of the facility bears interest at prime 
less 1,3%. The loan is repayable on 1 September 
2019. The company is compliant in respect of loan 
covenants.

 200 000 000  150 000 000  200 000 000  150 000 000 

Total secured financial liabilities  200 000 000  150 000 000  200 000 000  150 000 000 

Less: Deferred finance costs  (400 822)  (609 822)  (400 822)  (609 822)

Balance at the beginning of the year  (609 822)  –  (609 822)  – 

Finance costs during the year  –  (627 000)  –  (627 000)

Amortisation for the year (refer to note 17)  209 000  17 178  209 000  17 178 

Balance at the end of the year  199 599 178  149 390 178  199 599 178  149 390 178 

DISCLOSED AS FOLLOWS:

Non-current liability  199 599 178  149 390 178  199 599 178  149 390 178 

12. Derivative instruments  

Long term cancellable interest rate swaps

STANDARD BANK 

R150,0 million at a fixed quarterly rate of 10,11%, 
maturing on 1 September 2019.  3 612 549  2 455 041  3 612 549  2 455 041 

DISCLOSED AS FOLLOWS:

Non-current liability  3 612 549  2 455 041  3 612 549  2 455 041 

The derivative instrument was valued by Standard 
Bank by discounting the future cashflows using 
the average prime rate. Refer to note 25 for the 
fair value hierarchy.
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R 2017 2016 2017 2016

13. Trade and other payables
Rental income received in advance  10 712 965  5 496 726  676 915  400 618 

Value added taxation –  93 269 – –

Tenants deposits  28 380 546  22 074 967  697 811  585 794 

Accrued expenses  26 214 870  23 168 087  11 630 237  1 074 671 

 65 308 381  50 833 049 13 004 963  2 061 083 

14. Net operating profit
NET OPERATING PROFIT INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING ITEMS:

Charges

Audit fees  425 000  260 000  425 000  260 000 

Current year  425 000  337 000  425 000  337 000 

Prior year –   (77 000) –   (77 000)

Depreciation  61 143 10 908  61 143 10 908

Professional services fees  2 766 382  2 811 477 2 083 815  2 750 915 

Property management fees  18 725 958  18 219 174  584 937  2 572 961 
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R 2017 2016 2017 2016

15. Directors’ emoluments
FEES PAID TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS OF INDLUPLACE

FEES PAID TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Annual salaries
C. de Wit  Salary  1 774 440  1 674 000  1 774 440  1 674 000 
 Bonus  287 747  477 226  287 747  477 226 

 2 062 187  2 151 226  2 062 187  2 151 226 
T. Kaplan  Salary  1 590 000  853 845  1 590 000  853 845 
 Bonus  257 838 208 446  257 838 208 446 

 1 847 838 1 062 291  1 847 838 1 062 291
 3 910 025  3 213 517  3 910 025  3 213 517 

FEES PAID TO NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Director remuneration fees  1 786 033  1 706 400  1 786 033  1 706 400 
C. Abrams  285 531  272 800  285 531  272 800 
T. Adler  422 853  404 000  422 853  404 000 
G. Kinross  396 059  378 400  396 059  378 400 
S. Noik  285 531  272 800  285 531  272 800 
A. Rehman  396 059  378 400  396 059  378 400 

 5 696 058  4 919 917  5 696 058  4 919 917 

FEES EARNED BY INDLUPLACE DIRECTORS WITHIN 

THE ARROWHEAD GROUP

FEES PAID TO EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Annual salaries  10 485 984  11 339 205 
M. Kaplan  4 677 359  3 535 140 
G. Leisner  1 131 266  4 268 925 
I. Suleman  4 677 359  3 535 140 

FEES PAID TO NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Director remuneration  3 434 839  1 289 901 
C. Abrams  568 717 –
T. Adler  792 201  717 022 
G. Kinross  795 062 –
S. Noik  599 614  572 879 
A. Rehman 679 245 –
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R 2017 2016 2017 2016

16. Changes in fair values
Gain on revaluation of investment property 37 394 632 40 229 890 35 652 252 51 915 687

Straight line rental income accrual on 
investment property (refer to note 3)  (513 434)  (2 052 249)  (584 537) (376 353) 

Derivative instruments (refer to note 12)  (1 157 508)  (2 455 041)  (1 157 508)  (2 455 041)

 35 723 690  35 722 600  33 910 207  49 084 293 

17. Net finance income
FINANCE CHARGES

Interest paid – secured financial liabilities  (2 538 726)  (1 550 137)  (2 538 726)  (1 550 137)

Interest paid – interest rate swaps  (15 150 000)  (119 671)  (15 150 000)  (119 671)

Interest paid – holding company  (7 997 099)  (5 815 518)  (7 997 099)  (5 815 518)

Interest paid – other  (112 172)  (131 490)  (844)  (58 623)

Amortisation of structuring fee (refer to note 11)  (209 000)  (17 178)  (209 000)  (17 178)

 (26 006 997)  (7 633 994)  (25 895 669)  (7 561 127)

FINANCE INCOME

Interest received – bank  238 600  247 001  238 600  132 679 

Interest received – holding company  11 322 328  2 803 435  11 322 328  2 803 435 

Interest received – tenants  1 167 346  342 805  316 374  130 342 

Interest received – Participants of the Indluplace 
Share Purchase and Option Scheme  18 662 768  16 280 431  18 662 768  16 280 431 

 31 391 042  19 673 672  30 540 070  19 346 887 
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Indluplace has been approved as a Real Estate 
Investment Trust (REIT), with effect from the date 
of incorporation of the company, resulting in 
capital gains taxation no longer being applicable 
on the sale of investment property in terms of 
section 25BB of the Income Tax Act. The deferred 
tax rate applied to investment property at the 
sale rate will therefore be 0%. Consequently, no 
deferred tax was raised on deferred capital gains 
of investment property.

R 2017 2016 2017 2016

18. Taxation
Current taxation  –  –  –  – 

Deferred taxation  –  –  –  – 

 –  –  –  – 

RECONCILIATION OF TAXATION CHARGE

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense 

Accounting Profit  284 306 755  256 393 442  335 189 364  211 110 594 

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%)  79 605 891  71 790 164  93 853 022  59 110 966 

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Fair value adjustments  (10 794 599)  (10 002 328)  (10 306 733)  (13 743 602)

Straight line rental income accrual adjustment (143 761)  (574 630) (163 670)  (105 379) 

Amount received in advance  2 999 630  1 539 083  189 536  112 173 

Qualifying distribution  (71 667 161)  (62 752 289)  (83 572 155)  (45 374 158)

 –  –  –  – 

  



75

GROUP

Given the nature of its business, Indluplace 
uses dividend per share as its key performance 
measure as it is considered a more relevant 
performance measure than earnings or headline 
earnings per share.

R 2017 2016

19.  Earnings, headline earnings and 
distributable earnings

Number of shares in issue at year end  289 209 449  240 234 907 

Weighted average number of shares in issue used 
for the calculation of earnings and headline 
earnings per share 253 384 729  236 360 737 

Number of shares in issue at year end used for the 
calculation of distribution per share  317 932 853  240 234 907 

RECONCILIATION OF EARNINGS, HEADLINE EARNINGS 

AND DISTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders  284 306 755  256 393 442 

Change in fair value of properties  (36 881 197)  (38 177 641)

Deferred tax thereon – –

Headline earnings attributable to shareholders 247 425 558 218 215 801

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)  112,20  108,48 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  97,65  92,32 

Net asset value per share (cents)  1 029,98  1 023,54 
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R 2017 2016 2017 2016

20. Notes to the cash flow statement
20.1  The following convention applies to 

figures other than adjustments

Outflows of cash are represented by figures 
in brackets. Inflows of cash are represented 
by figures without brackets.

20.2 Cash generated from operations
Profit before taxation  284 306 755  256 393 442  335 189 364  211 110 594 

Adjusted for: non cash items:  (35 966 981)  (38 373 763)  (34 224 601)  (50 059 560)

– Changes in fair values (refer to note 16)  (35 723 690)  (35 722 600)  (33 910 207)  (49 084 293)

– Depreciation (refer to note 4)  61 143  10 908  61 143  10 908 

– Amortisation of structuring fee (refer to note 17)  209 000  (609 822)  209 000  (609 822)

–  Straight line rental income accrual (refer to note 3)  (513 434)  (2 052 249)  (584 537)  (376 353)

Net finance (income) (refer to note17)  (5 384 045)  (12 039 678)  (4 644 401)  (11 785 760)

Operating profit before working capital changes  242 955 729  205 980 001  296 320 362  149 265 274 

Working capital changes  (7 673 866)  15 803 847  716 668 (16 006 492)

– Trade and other receivables  (22 149 200)  (9 602 781)  (10 227 212) 1 272 269

– Trade and other payables  14 475 334  25 406 628  10 943 880 (17 278 761)

 235 281 863  221 783 848  297 037 030 133 258 782

21. Capital commitments
ACQUISITION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND 

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING PROPERTIES

– approved and committed 1 400 000 000 488 500 000 1 400 000 000 488 500 000

– approved not yet committed  –  –  –  – 

 1 400 000 000 488 500 000  1 400 000 000 488 500 000 

For further details regarding the capital commitments of R1,4 billion, refer to note 26.
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Minimum lease payments comprises contractual 
rental income from investment properties and 
operating lease recoveries due in terms of signed 
lease agreements.

Parties are considered related if one party has the 
ability to exercise control or significant influence 
over the other party in making financial or 
operational decisions.

Relationships

Ultimate holding company
Arrowhead Properties Limited. 

Subsidiaries
Refer to note 6. 

Fellow subsidiaries
Vividend Income Fund Limited 
Indite, Cumulative Properties and  
Gemgrow Properties Limited.

R 2017 2016 2017 2016

22.  Minimum lease payments receivable
– Receivable within one year 47 617 977  43 415 166 6 021 337  43 415 166 

– Receivable two to five years 26 890 731  20 466 181 6 314 590  20 466 181 

– Receivable beyond five years 2 672 655  – 2 314 265  – 

77 181 363  63 881 347 14 650 192  63 881 347 

23. Related parties and related party transactions
Director’s emoluments:  5 696 058  4 919 917  5 696 058  4 919 917 

Executive directors 15  3 910 025 3 213 517  3 910 025 3 213 517

Non-executive directors 15  1 786 033  1 706 400  1 786 033  1 706 400 

BALANCES OWING BY RELATED PARTIES:

Loans to participants of Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme 5  191 704 628  175 793 630  191 704 628  175 793 630 

Loan to shareholder 7/8  2 739 669  1 037 797 2 739 669  1 037 797 

Loans to/(from) subsidiaries 6  –  –  1 044 183 259  500 671 216 

TRANSACTIONS:

Interest received from participants of the 
Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme 5/17  (18 662 768)  (16 280 431)  (18 662 768)  (16 280 431)

Interest received from holding company 17  (11 322 328)  (2 803 435)  (11 322 328)  (2 803 435)

Dividends paid to holding company 17  151 122 792  132 711 770  151 122 792  132 711 770 

Dividends paid to Participants of the 
Indluplace Share Purchase and Option Scheme  18 045 160 16 180 977  18 045 160 16 180 977

Interest paid to holding company 17  7 997 099  5 815 518  7 997 099  5 815 518 

Management fees paid to holding company  2 700 000  900 000  2 700 000  900 000 

N
O

TE
S
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The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, interest bearing 
liabilities, derivative instruments, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. 
Book value approximates fair value in respect of these financial instruments.

Exposure to market, credit and liquidity risks arises in the normal course of business.
The table below sets out the classification of each class of financial asset and liability and 
their fair values.

24. Financial risk management

R

AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

 AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH

 PROFIT 
AND LOSS 

NON-
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENT 
BEYOND IFRS 7 TOTAL

AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

 AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH

 PROFIT 
AND LOSS 

NON-
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENT 
BEYOND IFRS 7 TOTAL

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 68 052 493  – 686 403  68 738 896  33 186 920  –  524 621  33 711 541 

Investments in subsidiaries – – – – 191 423 893 – – 191 423 893

Loans to subsidiaries – – – – 1 122 050 880 – – 1 122 050 880

Loans to participants of Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme  191 704 628  – –  191 704 628  191 704 628  –  –  191 704 628 

Cash and cash equivalents  40 948 095  – –  40 948 095  40 948 095  –  –  40 948 095 

 300 705 216  – 686 403  301 391 619 1 579 314 416  –  524 621 1 579 839 037

Financial liabilities

Secured financial liabilities  199 599 178  – –  199 599 178  199 599 178  –  –  199 599 178 

Derivative instruments – 3 612 549 –  3 612 549  –  3 612 549  –  3 612 549 

Loans from subsidiaries – – – –  77 867 621  –  –  77 867 621 

Trade and other payables  54 595 416  –  10 712 965  65 308 381  12 328 048  –  676 915  13 004 963 

254 194 594 3 612 549  10 712 965  268 520 108 290 471 862 3 612 549  676 915  294 084 311 
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R

AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

 AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH

 PROFIT 
AND LOSS 

NON-
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENT 
BEYOND IFRS 7 TOTAL

AT 
AMORTISED 

COST

 AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH

 PROFIT 
AND LOSS 

NON-
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENT 
BEYOND IFRS 7 TOTAL

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  46 225 439  –  364 257  46 589 696  23 209 344  –  274 984  23 484 328 

Loans to subsidiaries – – – – 527 025 098  –  – 527 025 098

Loans to participants of Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme  175 793 630  – –  175 793 630 175 793 630 – –  175 793 630 

Cash and cash equivalents  46 266 763  – –  46 266 763  46 266 763  –  –  46 266 763 

Loan to shareholder  1 037 797  – –  1 037 797  1 037 797  –  –  1 037 797 

 269 323 629  –  364 257  269 687 886  773 332 632  –  274 984  773 607 616 

Financial liabilities

Secured financial liabilities  149 390 178 – –  149 390 178  149 390 178  – –  149 390 178 

Derivative instruments  –  2 455 041  –  2 455 041  –  2 455 041 –  2 455 041 

Loans from subsidiaries –  –  – –  26 353 882  –  –  26 353 882 

Trade and other payables  45 243 054 –  5 589 995  50 833 049  2 061 083 –  –  2 061 083 

194 633 232  2 455 041  5 589 995  202 678 268 177 805 143  2 455 041 –  180 260 184 

Interest rate risk
Indluplace manages its exposure to 
changes in interest rates by hedging its 
exposure to interest rates in respect of the 
majority of its borrowings either in the form 
of fixed rate loans or interest rate swaps. At 
year-end, interest rates in respect of 75% 
(2016: 100%) of borrowings were hedged.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company 
will not be able to meet its financial 
commitments as and when they fall due. 
This risk is managed by holding cash 
balances and by regularly monitoring 
cash flows.

Indluplace will utilise undrawn facilities 
and cash on hand to meet its short term 
funding requirements.

The group can further raise new facilities 
and utilise cash on hand to meet its short 
term funding requirements. A maturity 
analysis of the company’s financial assets 

and liabilities and its exposure to interest 
rate risk at year end are set out in the 
table on the following page:
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R

 WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 

EFFECTIVE 
INTEREST 

RATE % 
 LESS THAN 

ONE YEAR 
 ONE TO 

FIVE YEARS 
 MORE THAN 

FIVE YEARS  TOTAL 

 WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 

EFFECTIVE 
INTEREST 

RATE % 
 LESS THAN 

ONE YEAR 
 ONE TO 

FIVE YEARS 
 MORE THAN 

FIVE YEARS  TOTAL 

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2017         
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  68 738 896  – –  68 738 896  33 711 541 – –  33 711 541 
Loans to participants of Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme variable –  –  191 704 628  191 704 628 variable – –  191 704 628  191 704 628 
Loans to subsidiaries – – – – –  1 122 050 880 –  1 122 050 880 
Investments in subsidiaries – – – – – – 191 423 893 191 423 893
Cash and cash equivalents 6,25  40 948 095  – –  40 948 095 6,25  40 948 095 – –  40 948 095 
Total financial assets  109 686 991  –  191 704 628  301 391 619  74 659 636  1 122 050 880  383 128 521  1 579 839 037 
Financial liabilities
Secured financial liabilities – 199 599 178  –  199 599 178 – 199 599 178  –  199 599 178 
Derivative instruments  –  3 612 549 –  3 612 549  – 3 612 549 –  3 612 549 
Loan from subsidiaries – – – – –  77 867 621 –  77 867 621 
Trade and other payables  65 308 381  – –  65 308 381  13 005 064 – –  13 005 064 
Total financial liabilities  65 308 381 203 211 727  –  268 520 108  13 005 064  281 079 348  –  294 084 412 
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016         
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables  46 589 696  – –  46 589 696  23 484 328  –  – 23 484 328
Loans to participants of Indluplace Share 
Purchase and Option Scheme variable –  –  175 793 630  175 793 630 variable  –  –  175 793 630  175 793 630 
Interest in subsidiaries  – 527 025 098  – 527 025 098
Loan to shareholder 9,2  1 037 797  – –  1 037 797 9,2  – 1 037 797  – 1 037 797
Cash and cash equivalents 6,5  46 266 763 – –  46 266 763 6,5  46 266 763 – –  46 266 763 
Total financial assets  93 894 256 –  175 793 630  269 687 886 69 751 091 528 062 895  175 793 630 773 607 616
Financial liabilities
Secured financial liabilities –  149 390 178 – 149 390 178 –  149 390 178 – 149 390 178
Derivative instruments – 2 455 041 – 2 455 041 – 2 455 041 – 2 455 041
Loan from subsidiaries –  –  – – – 26 353 882 – 26 353 882
Trade and other payables 50 833 049 – – 50 833 049 2 061 083 – – 2 061 083
Total financial liabilities 50 833 049  151 845 219 – 202 678 268 2 061 083 178 199 101 – 180 260 184



81

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the risk that a tenant 
may default or not meet its obligations 
timeously. The financial position of tenants 
payment history is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. The risk is minimised as receivables 
are spread over a wide customer base. 
Allowance is made for specific doubtful 
debts and credit risk is therefore limited to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset at 
year end.

Receivables past due but not impaired 
are believed collectable due to the nature 
of the tenant and payment history. 
Management does not consider there 
to be any credit risk exposure that is not 
already covered in the impairment. The 
carrying value of receivables is considered 
to reasonably approximate fair value. 

25. Fair value hierarchy

The different levels have been defined as:
Level 1 –  fair value is determined from 

quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities.

Level 2 –  fair value is determined through 
the use of valuation techniques 
based on observable inputs, either 
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 –  fair value is determined through 
the use of valuation techniques 
using significant inputs.

The investment properties (refer to note 2)
are valued using a level 3 model. Derivative 
instruments are classified as level 2. There 
are no other assets that are required to be 
analysed as per the hierarchy.

Measurement of fair value for level 3.
Investment property is measured using the 
discounted net cashflow method. Using 
the expected net income an appropriate 
capitalisation rate is applied. More than 1/3 
is valued externally by registered valuers. 
The remaining 2/3 is valued by directors.

The key inputs are as follows:
• Expected net operating income;
• Discount rate;
• Growth rate; and
• Vacancy factor.

26. Events after the reporting 
period-end

In terms of the Buffet transaction announced 
on SENS on 28 September 2017, Indluplace 
acquired 2 803 residential units and 
2 970 m2 of retail space, which became 
effective 1 October 2017. To fund this 
transaction, Indluplace entered into finance 
agreements with ABSA and Investec for 
an amount of R1,5 billion combined with 
issuing 28 723 404 shares post year end 
to the vendors and in terms of the sale 
agreement. Indluplace’s loan to value (LTV) 
ratio post the transaction, on the basis that 
only R1,23 billion was utilised in terms of 
the bank finance, increases from 6,8% to 
32,9%. The facility comprises R100 million 
revolving credit facility, R645 million expiring 
in three years and R484 million expiring in 
five years with average funding cost of 9,4%. 
Other than the Buffet transaction and the 
dividend declared on 8 November 2017 the 
directors are not aware of any other matter 
or circumstances arising since the end of 
the financial reporting period until date of 
this report.

27. Operating segments

The entity has three reportable segments 
(two in prior year) based on the entity’s 
strategic business segment. For each 
strategic business segment, the entity’s 
executive directors review internal 
management reports on a monthly basis. All 
segments are located in South Africa. There 
are no single major customers.

The following summary describes 
the operations in each of the entity’s 
reportable segments. The executive 
directors, the entity’s operating decision-
making forum reviews the distributable 
earning calculations every quarter to 
determine the appropriate dividend 
to declare.
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GROUP

2017 2016

R GAUTENG FREE STATE MPUMALANGA TOTAL GAUTENG MPUMALANGA TOTAL

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO REVENUE

Contractual rental income and recoveries 363 098 186 783 450 45 495 171 409 376 807  307 479 317  41 507 213  348 986 530 

Straight line rental income accrual 513 434 – – 513 434  2 052 249   –  2 052 249 

Total revenue 363 611 620 783 450 45 495 171 409 890 241  309 531 566  41 507 213  351 038 779 
Operating costs (139 820 967) (198 141) (13 262 190) (153 281 298)  (119 499 150)  (11 063 403)  (130 562 553)

Administration costs (13 409 923)  (11 845 062)

Net operating expenses 243 199 020  208 631 164 

Changes in fair values 35 723 690  35 722 600 

Profit from operations 278 922 710  244 353 764 

Net finance charges 5 384 045  12 039 678 

Finance income 31 391 042  19 673 672 

Finance cost (26 006 997)  (7 633 994)

Profit before taxation 284 306 755  256 393 442 

Taxation –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year 284 306 755  256 393 442 

Reportable segment assets  2 851 959 169  23 338 558  325 902 763  3 201 200 490  2 115 731 980  316 674 589  2 432 406 569 

Corporate segment assets – – –  46 111 186  –  – 229 162 238

Reportable segment liabilities  (16 988 203)  (23 338 558)  (8 622 615)  (48 949 376)  (48 352 011)  (2 481 038)  (50 833 049)

Corporate segment liabilities – – –  (219 570 732)  –  – (151 845 219)

 2 834 970 966 –  317 280 148  2 978 791 568  2 067 379 969  314 193 551  2 458 890 539
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R 30 SEPTEMBER 2017 30 SEPTEMBER 2016

27. Operating segments (continued)
RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TO DISTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS

Total comprehensive income for the year 284 306 755 256 393 442

Change in fair value of properties (36 881 198) (38 177 641)

Change in fair value of derivative instruments  1 157 508  2 455 041 

Straight line rental income accrual  (513 434)  (2 052 249)

Deferred tax thereon – –

Antecedent dividends  18 717 216  3 855 441 

Amount available for distribution  266 786 847  222 474 034 

RECONCILIATION OF AMOUNT AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION PER QUARTER

Amounts available for distribution to shareholders  266 786 847  222 474 034 

31 December  (57 654 491)  (55 087 474)

31 March  (59 796 630)  (55 430 505)

30 June  (71 505 648)  (55 863 048)

Amount available for distribution for the quarter ended 30 September  77 830 078  56 093 007 
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Shareholders’ diary
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
29 January 2018

DISTRIBUTION TIMETABLE FOR THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR

DIVIDEND NUMBER  11 12 13 14

Three months ended 31 December 2017 31 March 2018 30 June 2018 30 September 2018

Declaration date 7 February 2018 9 May 2018 8 August 2018 14 November 2018

Last day to trade 27 February 2018 29 May 2018 28 August 2018 4 December 2018

Shares trade ex-distribution 28 February 2018 30 May 2018 29 August 2018 5 December 2018

Payment date 5 March 2018 4 June 2018 3 September 2018 10 December 2018
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The above distribution dates and times are subject to change. Any changes will be announced on SENS.
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Indluplace Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2013/226082/06)
JSE share code: ILU  ISIN: ZAE000201125
(Approved as a REIT by the JSE) 
(“Indluplace” or “the company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of Indluplace 
(“shareholders”) will be held at the offices of Indluplace, 3rd floor, 1 Sturdee Avenue, 
Rosebank, Johannesburg on Monday, 29 January 2018 at 10h00 (the “annual general 
meeting”) for the purposes of:
•  presenting the directors’ report, the social and ethics committee report, the audit and 

risk committee report and the company’s audited annual financial statements containing 
the auditors’ report for the year ended 30 September 2017 as contained in the 
integrated annual report to which this notice of annual general meeting is attached;

•  transacting any other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting of 
shareholders of a company including the re-appointment of the auditors and re-election 
of retiring directors; and

•  considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without modification, the shareholder 
ordinary and special resolutions set out below.

In terms of section 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended 
(the “Companies Act” or “Act”), the board has set the record date for the purpose of 
determining which shareholders are entitled to:
•  receive notice of the annual general meeting (being the date on which the shareholder 

must be registered in the share register in order to receive notice of the annual general 
meeting); and

•  participate in and vote at the annual general meeting (being the date on which the 
shareholder must be registered in the company’s share register in order to participate in 
and vote at the annual general meeting), as follows:

Notice of Annual General Meeting

EVENT DATE

 2017

Record date for receipt of notice purposes on Friday, 24 November

2018

Last day to trade in order to be eligible 
to participate in and vote at the annual general meeting on Tuesday, 16 January

Record date for voting purposes (“voting record date”) on Friday, 19 January

Recommended last day to lodge forms 
of proxy for the annual general meeting (at 10h00) on Friday, 26 January

Annual general meeting (at 10h00) on Monday, 29 January

Results of annual general meeting released 
on SENS on or before Tuesday, 30 January

In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act:
•  a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is 

entitled to appoint a proxy or one or more proxies to attend, participate in and vote at 
the annual general meeting in the place of the shareholder;

•  a proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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Kindly note that in terms of section 63(1) 
of the Companies Act, meeting participants 
(including proxies) are required to provide 
reasonably satisfactory identification before 
being entitled to attend or participate in 
the annual general meeting. In this regard, 
all Indluplace shareholders recorded in 
the register of the company on the voting 
record date who wish to attend the annual 
general meeting will be required to provide 
identification satisfactory to the chairman of 
the general meeting. Forms of identification 
include valid identity documents, driver’s 
licences and passports.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1:
Re-election of directors

“Resolved that:
1.1  the following directors be re-elected as 

directors of the company (each by way 
of a separate vote):

 1.1.1  C. de Wit who retires in terms 
of the company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and who, 
being eligible, offers himself for 
re- election;

 1.1.2  S. Noik who retires in terms of 
the company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and who, 

being eligible, offers himself for 
re- election;

 1.1.3   G. Kinross who retires in terms 
of the company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and who, 
being eligible, offers himself for 
re- election;

1.2  Y. Silimela’s appointment as a director 
by the chairman of the board in 
terms of clause 25.3 of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation be and 
is hereby approved.”

  

Brief curricula vitae in respect of C. de Wit, 
S. Noik, G. Kinross and Y. Silimela are set 
out on pages 6 to 7 of the integrated annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

The board, assisted by the Remuneration 
and Nomination committee, has considered 
each of C. de Wit, S. Noik, G. Kinross 
and Y. Silimela’s past performances 
and contribution to the company and 
recommend that C. de Wit, S. Noik and 
G. Kinross are re-elected as directors of the 
company and Y. Silimela’s appointment to 
the board be and is hereby approved.

In order for each of ordinary resolutions 
1.1.1, 1.1.2, 1.1.3 and 1.2 to be adopted, 

the support of more than 50% of the 
total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2: 
Re-appointment of members of the 
audit and risk committee

“Resolved that the members of the 
company’s audit and risk committee set 
out below be and are hereby re-appointed, 
each by way of a separate vote, with effect 
from the end of this annual general meeting 
in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act. The membership as proposed by 
the Remuneration and Nomination 
committee is:
2.1. C. Abrams (Chairman);
2.2. G. Kinross; and
2.3. A. Rehman;
all of whom are independent 
non- executive directors.”

Brief curricula vitae of each of the above 
audit and risk committee members are set 
out on pages 6 to 7 of the integrated annual 
report of which this notice forms part.

In order for each of ordinary resolutions 2.1, 
2.2 and 2.3 to be adopted, the support of 

more than 50% of the total number of votes 
exercisable by shareholders, present in 
person or by proxy, is required.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3: 
Re-appointment of auditors

“Resolved that Grant Thornton, together 
with Paul Badrick as the designated audit 
partner, be and are hereby re-appointed 
as the auditors of the company from the 
conclusion of this annual general meeting.”

The Audit and Risk committee has 
nominated Grant Thornton for appointment 
as auditors of the company under section 
90 of the Companies Act and in accordance 
with the JSE Listings Requirements.

In order for ordinary resolution 3 to be 
adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4:
Unissued shares

“Resolved that, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act, the Listings 
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Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE 
Listings Requirements”) and the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 
the company’s authorised but unissued 
share capital be and is hereby placed under 
the control of the directors of the company 
with the authority to allot and issue and 
otherwise dispose of all or part thereof in 
their discretion to fund acquisition issues 
and/or vendor consideration placings, as 
defined in the JSE Listings Requirements.”

In order for ordinary resolution 4 to be 
adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5:
General authority to issue shares 
for cash

“Resolved that, without placing any 
limitations on ordinary resolution 4 but 
subject to the restrictions set out below 
and the provisions of the Companies Act, 
the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, 
the directors of the company be and are 
hereby authorised until this authority lapses 
at the next annual general meeting of 

the company, provided that this authority 
shall not extend beyond 15 months from 
the date of passing, to allot and issue 
shares of the company for cash on the 
following basis:
•  the shares which are the subject of the 

general issue for cash must be of a class 
already in issue or, where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such shares 
or rights as are convertible into a class 
already in issue;

•  the allotment and issue of shares for 
cash shall be made only to persons 
qualifying as “public shareholders”, as 
defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, 
and not to “related parties”;

•  shares which are the subject of the 
general issue for cash shall not exceed 
47 689 928, being 15% of the company’s 
shares in issue as at the date of 
notice of this annual general meeting; 
accordingly, any shares issued under 
this authority prior to this authority 
lapsing shall be deducted from the 
shares that the company is authorised 
to issue in terms of this authority for the 
purpose of determining the remaining 
number of shares that may be issued in 
terms of this authority;

•  in the event of a sub-division or 
consolidation of shares, prior to this 
authority lapsing, the existing authority 
shall be adjusted accordingly to 

represent the same allocation ratio;
•  the maximum discount at which the 

shares may be issued is 10% of the 
weighted average traded price of such 
shares measured over the 30 business 
days prior to the date that the price 
of the issue is agreed between the 
company and the party subscribing 
for the shares, adjusted for a dividend 
where the “ex” date of the dividend 
occurs during the 30 day period 
in question;

•  after the company has issued shares 
in terms of this general authority to 
issue shares for cash representing on 
a cumulative basis within a financial 
year, 5% or more of the number 
of shares in issue prior to that 
issue, the company shall publish an 
announcement containing full details of 
that issue, including:

 •  the number of shares issued;
 •  the average discount to the 

weighted average traded price of 
the shares over the 30 business 
days prior to the date that the 
issue is agreed in writing between 
the company and the party/ies 
subscribing for the shares; and

 •  an explanation, including 
supporting documentation (if any), 
of the intended use of the funds.”

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, 
in order for ordinary resolution 5 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 6: 
Specific authority to issue shares 
pursuant to a re-investment option

“Resolved that, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act, the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, the directors 
be and are hereby authorised by way of a 
specific standing authority to issue shares, 
as and when they deem appropriate, 
for the exclusive purpose of affording 
shareholders opportunities from time to 
time to elect to reinvest their distributions 
in new shares of the company pursuant to a 
reinvestment option.”

In order for ordinary resolution 6 to be 
adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.
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ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7: 
Non-binding advisory vote 
on remuneration policy and 
implementation report

“7.1  Resolved that on the board’s 
recommendation and on a 
non- binding advisory basis, the 
company’s remuneration policy on 
base salary, benefits, short-term 
incentives and long-term incentives 
for executive directors be and is 
hereby approved;”

“7.2  Resolved that on a non-binding 
advisory basis the implementation 
report be and is hereby approved,”

Overview
Remuneration is used to incentivise 
and retain staff thereby contributing to 
succession and long-term sustainability of 
the company. The Indluplace remuneration 
policy supports the company’s intention to 
attract high calibre staff as well as serving 
to retain and motivate staff which is in 
the company’s as well as all stakeholders’ 
best interests.

Annual increases include annual salary 
increases which are inflation related 

adjustments benchmarked against industry 
norms. Annual increases are paid subject to 
adequate overall performance, stability and 
position of the company.

Non-executive directors do not receive 
remuneration or incentive rewards relative 
to the price of the company’s shares or 
corporate performance and their fees are 
approved by shareholders in advance.
The payment of incentive awards to 
executive directors has a performance 
linked component measured against growth 
in distribution, net income growth, and 
total return for the year as well as asset 
based growth.

The company does not provide retirement 
or medical aid benefits and these are for 
the account of the employee.

The remuneration policy and 
implementation report can be found on 
pages 37 to 42.

Should the remuneration policy and/or the 
implementation report be voted against 
by 25% or more of the votes exercised, 
the board undertakes to actively engage 
with shareholders in order to ascertain the 
legitimate and reasonable objections and 

concerns thereto and formulate and adopt 
a matrix to develop the remuneration policy 
and/or implementation report as the case 
may be, in the next financial year.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 8: 
Signature of documentation

“Resolved that any director of the company 
or the company secretary be and is hereby 
authorised to sign all such documentation 
and do all such things as may be necessary 
for or incidental to the implementation 
of the ordinary resolutions and special 
resolutions passed at this annual general 
meeting subject to the terms thereof.”

In order for ordinary resolution 8 to be 
adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable 
by shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1: 
Share repurchases

“Resolved as a special resolution that the 
company or any of its subsidiaries be and 
are hereby authorised by way of a general 

approval to acquire shares issued by the 
company, in terms of sections 46 and 48 of 
the Companies Act and in terms of the JSE 
Listings Requirements being that:
•  any acquisition of shares shall be 

implemented through the order book of 
the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and without prior 
arrangement;

•  this general authority shall be valid until 
the company’s next annual general 
meeting, provided that it shall not extend 
beyond 15 months from the date of 
passing of this special resolution;

•  the company (or any subsidiary) is duly 
authorised by its Memorandum of 
Incorporation to do so;

•  acquisitions of shares in the aggregate 
in any one financial year may not exceed 
20% (or 10% where the acquisitions 
are effected by a subsidiary) of the 
company’s issued ordinary share 
capital as at the date of passing of this 
special resolution;

•  in determining the price at which shares 
issued by the company are acquired 
by it or any of its subsidiaries in terms 
of this general authority, the maximum 
premium at which such shares may be 
acquired will be 10% of the weighted 
average of the market value on the JSE 
over the five business days immediately 
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preceding the repurchase of such shares;
•  at any point in time the company (or any 

subsidiary) may appoint only one agent 
to effect repurchases on its behalf;

•  repurchases may not take place 
during a prohibited period (as defined 
in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements) unless a repurchase 
programme is in place (where the 
dates and quantities of shares to be 
repurchased during the prohibited 
period are fixed) and has been submitted 
to the JSE prior to the commencement of 
the prohibited period;

•  an announcement will be published 
as soon as the company or any of its 
subsidiaries have acquired shares 
constituting on a cumulative basis, 3% 
of the number of shares in issue prior 
to the acquisition pursuant to which 
the aforesaid threshold is reached 
and for each 3% in aggregate acquired 
thereafter, containing full details of such 
acquisitions; and

•  the board of directors of the company 
must resolve that the repurchase 
is authorised, the company and its 
subsidiaries have passed the solvency 
and liquidity test as set out in section 
4 of the Companies Act, and since that 
test was performed, there have been no 
material changes to the financial position 
of the group.”

In accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements the directors confirm that 
although there is no immediate intention 
to effect a repurchase of the shares of 
the company, the directors will utilise this 
general authority to repurchase shares as 
and when suitable opportunities present 
themselves, which may require expeditious 
and immediate action.

The directors undertake that after 
considering the maximum number of 
shares that may be repurchased and the 
price at which the repurchases may take 
place pursuant to the share repurchase 
general authority, for a period of 12 months 
after the date of notice of repurchase:

•  the company and its subsidiaries will, in 
the ordinary course of business, be able 
to pay its debts;

•  the consolidated assets of the company 
and its subsidiaries fairly valued in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, will exceed the 
consolidated liabilities of the company 
and its subsidiaries fairly valued in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards; and

•  the company and its subsidiaries 
share capital, reserves and working 
capital will be adequate for ordinary 
business purposes.

The following additional information, 
some of which may appear elsewhere in 
the integrated annual report, is provided 
in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE 
Listings Requirements for purposes of this 
general authority:

•  Major beneficial shareholders – page 101;
•  Capital structure of the company – 

page 69 (note 10).

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on 
page 50 of the integrated annual report 
of which this notice forms part, collectively 
and individually accept full responsibility 
for the accuracy of the information 
pertaining to this special resolution and 
certify that, to the best of their knowledge 
and belief, there are no facts that have 
been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading, and that 
all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the 
special resolution contains all information 
required by the Companies Act and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments 
reported on in the integrated annual report 
of which this notice forms part, there have 
been no material changes in the affairs or 

financial position of the company and its 
subsidiaries since the date of signature of 
the audit report for the financial year ended 
30 September 2017 and up to the date of 
this notice.

In order for special resolution 1 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

Reason for and effect of special 
resolution 1
The reason for special resolution 1 is to 
afford the directors of the company (or 
a subsidiary of the company) general 
authority to effect a repurchase of the 
company’s shares on the JSE. The effect 
of the resolution will be that the directors 
will have the authority, subject to the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the Companies 
Act, to effect repurchases of the company’s 
shares on the JSE.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2: 
Financial assistance to related and 
inter-related parties in terms of Section 
45 of the Companies Act

“Resolved as a special resolution that the 
company’s provision of direct or indirect 
financial assistance by way of inter-company 
loans or in any other form, such authority 
to endure until the next annual general 
meeting provided that such authority 
shall not extend beyond 2 years, be and 
is hereby approved and the board of the 
company be and is hereby authorised 
and empowered to give effect to any such 
financial assistance, and further provided 
that in as much as the company’s provision 
of financial assistance to its subsidiaries 
will at any time be in excess of one-tenth 
of one percent of the company’s net worth, 
the company hereby provides notice to its 
shareholders of that fact.”

In order for special resolution 2 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

Reason for and effect of special 
resolution 2
The reason for and effect of special 
resolution 2 is to approve and also to 
authorise the board in terms of and to the 
extent necessary under section 45 of the 
Companies Act to give effect to any financial 
assistance deemed appropriate until the 
next annual general meeting provided that 
such authority shall not extend beyond 
2 years. The board will not authorise 
financial assistance in terms of the above 
resolution unless the board is satisfied 
that the terms under which the financial 
assistance is proposed to be given are 
fair and reasonable to the company and, 
immediately after providing the financial 
assistance, the company would satisfy the 
solvency and liquidity test contemplated in 
the Companies Act. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTION 3: 
Approval of fees payable to 
non- executive directors

“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the 
fees payable by the company to non-
executive directors for their services as 
non-executive directors (in terms of section 
66 of the Companies Act) be and are hereby 
approved by the passing of this resolution 

for the financial year ending  
30 September 2018, as follows:

• Chairman of the Board R 398 348;
• Non-executive director R 249 524;
• Audit and risk committee member  
 R 59 890;
•  Remuneration and nomination 

committee R 59 890; and
• Investment committee R 59 890.

The above remuneration excludes Value 
Added Tax which will be added by the 
directors in terms of current VAT legislation, 
if applicable.

In order for special resolution 3 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.

Reason for and effect of special 
resolution 3
The reason for special resolution 3 is to 
obtain shareholder approval in accordance 
with section 66(9) of the Companies 
Act for the payment by the company 
of remuneration to the non-executive 
directors of the company for their services 
as non-executive directors for the ensuing 
financial year.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 4: 
Approval to issue shares in terms of 
Section 41(1) of the Companies Act 71 
of 2008

“Resolved that, in accordance with section 
41(1) of the Companies Act, and subject 
to the JSE Listings Requirements, the issue 
by the company of shares to any director, 
future director, prescribed officer or future 
prescribed officer of the company, or to 
a person related or inter-related to the 
company, or to a person related or inter-
related to a director or prescribed officer 
of the company, or to any nominee of such 
person, in terms of any placement, offer, 
book-build or similar capital raising, at the 
same price and at the same terms as those 
upon which shares are issued to other 
investors in terms of such placement, offer, 
book-build and/or capital raising, be and is 
hereby approved.”

In order for special resolution 4 to be 
adopted, the support of at least 75% of 
the total number of votes exercisable by 
shareholders, present in person or by 
proxy, is required.
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Reason for and effect of special 
resolution 4
The reason for special resolution 4 is to 
authorise the issue of shares in terms 
of any placement, offer, book-build and/
or capital raising if and to the extent that 
such shares are issued to directors of the 
company and related persons.

QUORUM
A quorum for purposes of considering the 
resolutions above shall consist of three 
shareholders of the company personally 
present or represented by proxy (and 
if the shareholder is a body corporate, 
the representative of the body corporate) and 
entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. 
In addition, a quorum shall comprise 25% 
of all the voting rights that are entitled to be 
exercised by shareholders in respect of at 
least one matter to be decided at the annual 
general meeting.

The date on which shareholders must be 
recorded as such in the register maintained 
by the transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank, 2196 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 
2107), for the purposes of being entitled to 
attend, participate in and vote at the annual 
general meeting is Friday, 19 January 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS
General Instructions
Shareholders are encouraged to 
attend, speak and vote at the annual 
general meeting.

Electronic Participation
The company has made provision for 
Indluplace shareholders or their proxies 
to participate electronically in the annual 
general meeting by way of telephone 
conferencing. Should shareholders or their 
proxies wish to participate in the annual 
general meeting by telephone conference 
call as aforesaid, the shareholder or its 
proxy as the case may be, will be required 
to advise the company thereof by no later 
than 10h00 on Friday, 26 January 2018 
by submitting by e-mail to the company 
secretary at  
Gillian.Prestwich@computershare.co.za or 
by fax to be faxed to +27 (0)11 688 5279, 
for the attention of G. Prestwich, relevant 
contact details, including an e-mail address, 
cellular number and landline as well as full 
details of the Indluplace shareholder’s title 
to securities issued by the company and 
proof of identity, in the form of copies of 
identity documents and share certificates 
(in the case of materialised Indluplace 
shares) and (in the case of dematerialised 
Indluplace shares) written confirmation 

from the Indluplace shareholder’s CSDP 
confirming the Indluplace shareholder’s title 
to the dematerialised Indluplace shares. 
Upon receipt of the required information 
the Indluplace shareholder concerned 
will be provided with a secure code and 
instructions to access the electronic 
communication during the annual general 
meeting. Indluplace shareholders must note 
that access to the electronic communication 
will be at the expense of the Indluplace 
shareholders who wish to utilise the facility.

Indluplace shareholders and their 
appointed proxies attending by conference 
call will not be able to cast their votes at 
the annual general meeting through this 
medium. Such shareholders, should they 
wish to have their vote counted at the 
annual general meeting must to the extent 
applicable complete the form of proxy 
or contact their CSDP or broker, in both 
instances as set out below.

Proxies and authority for 
representatives to act
A shareholder of the company entitled 
to attend and vote at the annual general 
meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies (who need not be a shareholder of 
the company) to attend, vote and speak in 
his/her stead. A form of proxy is attached 
for the convenience of any Indluplace 

shareholder holding certificated shares, 
who cannot attend the annual general 
meeting but wishes to be represented 
thereat. The attached form of proxy is only 
to be completed by those shareholders 
who are:
−  holding shares in certificated form; or
−  recorded on the company’s sub-register in 

dematerialised electronic form with “own 
name” registration.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on 
request from the company’s registered 
office or from the offices of the transfer 
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited at Rosebank Towers, 
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196.
All other beneficial owners who have 
dematerialised their shares through a 
Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker and wish to attend the 
annual general meeting, must instruct their 
CSDP or broker to provide them with the 
necessary letter of representation, or they 
must provide the CSDP or broker with their 
voting instructions in terms of the relevant 
custody agreement entered into between 
them and the CSDP or broker. These 
shareholders must not use a form of proxy.

For administrative purposes, forms of 
proxy should be deposited at the transfer 
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 



Proprietary Limited at Rosebank Towers, 
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196 by 
email to proxy@computershare.co.za or by 
fax on +27 (0)11 688 6238, or posted to  
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 to be 
received by 10h00 on Friday, 26 January 
2018. Alternatively, the form of proxy may 
be handed to the chairman of the annual 
general meeting at the annual general 
meeting or to the transfer secretaries at 
any time prior to the commencement of the 
annual general meeting or prior to voting 
on any resolution proposed at the annual 
general meeting. Any shareholder who 
completes and lodges a form of proxy will 
nevertheless be entitled to attend, speak and 
vote in person at the annual general meeting 
should the shareholder decide to do so.

A company that is a shareholder, wishing 
to attend and participate at the annual 
general meeting should ensure that a 
resolution authorising a representative to 
so attend and participate at the annual 
general meeting on its behalf is passed 
by its directors. Resolutions authorising 
representatives in terms of section 57(5) of 
the Companies Act must be lodged with the 
company’s transfer secretaries prior to the 
annual general meeting.

Indluplace does not accept responsibility 
and will not be held liable for any failure 
on the part of the CSDP or broker of a 
dematerialised shareholder to notify such 
shareholder of the annual general meeting 
or any business to be conducted thereat.

93



94

Indluplace Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2013/226082/06)
JSE share code: ILU  ISIN: ZAE000201125
(Approved as a REIT by the JSE) 
(“Indluplace” or “the company”)

I/WE (BLOCK LETTERS PLEASE) __________________________________________________________________

OF (ADDRESS) ____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

BEING THE HOLDER/S OF____________________________INDLUPLACE SHARES HEREBY APPOINT:

1.__________________________________________________________________________________________________

2. _________________________________________________________________________________________________

3. THE CHAIRMAN OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

as my/our proxy to attend and speak and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 
annual general meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purpose 
of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to 
be proposed at the annual general meeting, and to vote on the resolutions in respect of the 
ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in the following manner.

Form of proxy

Where appropriate and applicable the terms defined in the notice of annual general 
meeting to which this form of proxy is attached and forms part of bear the same meaning in 
this form of proxy.

This form of proxy is only for use by:
•  registered shareholders who have not yet dematerialised their Indluplace shares;
•  registered shareholders who have already dematerialised their Indluplace shares and 

which shares are registered in their own names in the company’s sub-register.

For completion by the aforesaid registered shareholders of Indluplace who are unable to 
attend the annual general meeting of the company to be held at the offices of the company 
at Indluplace, 3rd Floor, Upper building, 1 Sturdee Avenue, Rosebank, Johannesburg, at 
10h00 on Monday, 29 January 2018 (the “annual general meeting”) or any postponement 
or adjournment thereof. Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own name” 
registration, are not to use this form.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than with “own name” registration, should provide 
instructions to their appointed Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker 
in the form as stipulated in the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the 
CSDP or broker.
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*IN FAVOUR OF AGAINST ABSTAIN

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1.1.1 Re-election of C. de Wit as director
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1.1.2 Re-election of S. Noik as director
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1.1.3 Re-election of G. Kinross as director
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1.2 Approval of appointment of Y. Silimela as director
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2.1 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee – C. Abrams (chairman) 
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2.2 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee – G. Kinross
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2.3 Re-appointment of members of the audit and risk committee – A. Rehman
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 Re-appointment of auditors
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4 Unissued shares
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5 General authority to issue shares for cash
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 6 Specific authority to issue shares pursuant to a reinvestment option
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7.1 Non-binding advisory vote on remuneration policy
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7.2 Non-binding advisory vote on implementation report
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 8 Signature of documentation
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 1 Share repurchases
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 2 Financial assistance to related and inter-related parties in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 3 Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors
SPECIAL RESOLUTION 4 Approval to issue shares in terms of section 41(1) of the Companies Act
* One vote per share held by Indluplace shareholders recorded in the register on the voting record date. Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit..

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to 
appoint a proxy to attend, vote and speak in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member 
of the company. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, 
speak and, on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting. For 
administrative purposes, forms of proxy should be deposited at Computershare Investor 
Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196, or 

emailed to proxy@computershare.co.za or faxed to +27 (0)11 688 6235 or posted to PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown, 2107 so as to arrive by no later than 10h00 on Friday, 26 January 
2018. Alternatively the form of proxy may be handed to the chairman of the annual general 
meeting or to the transfer secretaries at the annual general meeting, at any time prior to the 
commencement of the annual general meeting or prior to voting on any resolution proposed 
at the annual general meeting. Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

SIGNED AT___________________________________________________________________ ON______________________________________________20____ SIGNATURE___________________________________________________

ASSISTED BY ME (WHERE APPLICABLE) ____________________________________ (STATE CAPACITY AND FULL NAME) ___________________________________________________________________________________
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1.  Only shareholders who are registered 
in the register of the company under 
their own name on the date on which 
shareholders must be recorded as 
such in the register maintained by the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 
being Friday, 19  January 2018 
(the “voting record date”), may 
complete a form of proxy or attend 
the annual general meeting. This 
includes shareholders who have not 
dematerialised their shares or who 
have dematerialised their shares with 
“own name” registration. The person 
whose name stands first on the form 
of proxy and who is present at the 
annual general meeting will be entitled 
to act as proxy to the exclusion of those 
whose names follow. A proxy need not 
be a shareholder of the company.

2.  Certificated shareholders wishing to 
attend the annual general meeting 
have to ensure beforehand with the 
transfer secretaries of the company 
(being Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited) that their shares 
are registered in their own name.

3.  Beneficial shareholders whose shares 
are not registered in their “own 
name”, but in the name of another, 

for example, a nominee, may not 
complete a proxy form, unless a 
form of proxy is issued to them by a 
registered shareholder and they should 
contact the registered shareholder for 
assistance in issuing instructions on 
voting their shares, or obtaining a proxy 
to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote at 
the annual general meeting.

4.  Dematerialised shareholders who have 
not elected “own name” registration in 
the register of the company through 
a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to 
attend the annual general meeting, 
must instruct the CSDP or broker 
to provide them with the necessary 
authority to attend.

5.  Dematerialised shareholders who have 
not elected “own name” registration in 
the register of the company through 
a CSDP and who are unable to attend, 
but wish to vote at the annual general 
meeting, must timeously provide 
their CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the custody 
agreement entered into between that 
shareholder and the CSDP or broker.

6.  A shareholder may insert the name of 
a proxy or the names of two or more 

alternative proxies of the shareholder’s 
choice in the space, with or without 
deleting “the chairman of the annual 
general meeting”.

  The person whose name stands first on 
the form of proxy and who is present 
at the annual general meeting will be 
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion 
of those whose names follow.

7.  The completion and lodging of this 
form will not preclude the relevant 
shareholder from attending the 
annual general meeting and speaking 
and voting in person thereat to the 
exclusion of any proxy appointed, 
should such shareholder wish to do 
so. In addition to the aforegoing, a 
shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by cancelling it in 
writing, or making a later inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy and (delivering 
a copy of the revocation instrument to 
the proxy, and to the company).

8.  The revocation of a proxy appointment 
constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority 
to act on behalf of the relevant 
shareholder as of the later of the date:

 −  stated in the revocation instrument, if 
any; or

 −  upon which the revocation 
instrument is delivered to the 
proxy and the relevant company as 
required in section 58(4)(c)(ii) of the 
Companies Act.

9.  Should the instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies have been delivered 
to the company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, 
any notice that is required by the 
Companies Act or the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation to 
be delivered by the company to the 
shareholder must be delivered by the 
company to –

 −  the shareholder, or
 −  the proxy or proxies if the 

shareholder has in writing directed 
the relevant company to do so and 
has paid any reasonable fee charged 
by the company for doing so.

10.  A proxy is entitled to exercise, or 
abstain from exercising, any voting right 
of the relevant shareholder without 
direction, except to the extent that the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of the 
company or the instrument appointing 
the proxy provide otherwise.

11.  If the company issues an invitation to 
shareholders to appoint one or more 

Notes to the form of proxy
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persons named by the company as a 
proxy, or supplies a form of instrument 
for appointing a proxy –

 −  such invitation must be sent to every 
shareholder who is entitled to receive 
notice of the meeting at which the 
proxy is intended to be exercised;

 −  the company must not require that 
the proxy appointment be made 
irrevocable; and

 −  the proxy appointment remains valid 
only until the end of the relevant 
meeting at which it was intended 
to be used, unless revoked as 
contemplated in section 58(5) of the 
Companies Act.

12.  Any alteration or correction made to this 
form of proxy must be initialled by the 
signatory/ies. A deletion of any printed 
matter and the completion of any blank 
space(s) need not be signed or initialled.

13.  Documentary evidence establishing 
the authority of a person signing this 
form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form 
unless previously recorded by the 
transfer secretaries of the company or 
waived by the chairman of the annual 
general meeting.

14.   A minor must be assisted by his/her 
parent/guardian unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been 
registered by the transfer secretaries.

15.   A company holding shares in the 
company that wishes to attend and 
participate at the annual general 
meeting should ensure that a 
resolution authorising a representative 
to act is passed by its directors.

16.  Resolutions authorising representatives 
in terms of section 57(5) of the 
Companies Act must be lodged with the 
company’s transfer secretaries prior to 
the annual general meeting.

17.   Where there are joint holders of shares 
any one of such persons may vote at 
any meeting in respect of such shares 
as if he were solely entitled thereto; 
but if more than one of such joint 
holders be present or represented 
at the meeting, that one of the said 
persons whose name appears first in 
the register of shareholders of such 
shares or his proxy, as the case may 
be, shall alone be entitled to vote in 
respect thereof.

18.   On a show of hands, every shareholder 
of the company present in person or 
represented by proxy shall have one 
vote only. On a poll a shareholder who 
is present in person or represented 
by a proxy has the number of votes 
determined in accordance with the 
voting rights associated with the shares 
held by that shareholder.

19.   The chairman of the annual general 
meeting may reject or accept any proxy 
which is completed and/or received 
other than in accordance with the 
instructions, provided that he shall not 
accept a proxy unless he is satisfied as 
to the matter in which a shareholder 
wishes to vote.

20.   A proxy may not delegate his/her 
authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder, to another person.

21.   A shareholder’s instruction to the proxy 
must be indicated by the insertion of 
the relevant number of shares to be 
voted on behalf of that shareholder 
in the appropriate space provided. 
Failure to comply with the above will be 
deemed to authorise the chairperson 
of the annual general meeting, if the 
chairperson is the authorised proxy, 

to vote in favour of the resolutions at 
the annual general meeting or other 
proxy to vote or to abstain from voting 
at the annual general meeting as he/
she deems fit, in respect of the shares 
concerned. A shareholder or the proxy 
is not obliged to use all the votes 
exercisable by the shareholder or the 
proxy, but the total number of votes 
cast in respect whereof abstention 
is recorded may not exceed the 
total of the votes exercisable by the 
shareholder or the proxy.

22.   It is requested that this form of proxy 
be lodged or posted or emailed or 
faxed to the transfer secretaries, 
Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited at Rosebank 
Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, 
Rosebank, 2196 or emailed to 
proxy@ computershare.co.za or by 
fax on +27 (0)11 688 6238, or posted 
to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 
to be received by the company by 
10h00 on Friday, 26 January 2018. 
Alternatively, the form of proxy may be 
handed to the chairman of the annual 
general meeting at the annual general 
meeting or the transfer secretary at 
any time prior to the commencement 
of the annual general meeting or prior 



to voting on any resolution proposed at 
the annual general meeting. A quorum 
for the purposes of considering the 
resolutions shall comprise 25% of 
all the voting rights that are entitled 
to be exercised by shareholders in 
respect of each matter to be decided 
at the annual general meeting. In 
addition, a quorum shall consist of 
three shareholders of the company 
personally present or represented 
and entitled to vote at the annual 
general meeting.

23.   This form of proxy may be used at any 
adjournment or postponement of the 
annual general meeting, including any 
postponement due to a lack of quorum, 
unless withdrawn by the shareholder.

  The aforegoing notes contain a 
summary of the relevant provisions of 
section 58 of the Companies Act.

98



99

Shareholder analysis
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Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders as at 30 September 2017

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

% OF TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDINGS

NUMBER OF 
SHARES

% OF 
ISSUED CAPITAL

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

1 – 1 000 204 25,44 95 638 0,03

1 001 – 10 000 364 45,39 1 509 879 0,52

10 001 – 100 000 143 17,83 3 794 387 1,31

100 001 – 1 000 000 66 8,23 21 431 016 7,41

Over 1 000 000 25 3,11 262 378 529 90,73

802 100,00 289 209 449 100,00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Assurance Companies 1 0,12 173 000 0,06

Close Corporations 10 1,25 145 430 0,05

Collective Investment Schemes 24 2,99 39 234 072 13,57

Custodians 3 0,37 1 683 352 0,58

Foundations & Charitable Funds 8 1,00 1 179 872 0,41

Hedge Funds 3 0,37 1 794 863 0,62

Investment Partnerships 7 0,87 116 008 0,04

Managed Funds 8 1,00 3 113 435 1,08

Private Companies 39 4,86 7 936 490 2,74

Public Companies 3 0,37 191 603 823 66,25

Public Entities 1 0,12 49 232 0,02

Retail Shareholders 567 70,70 3 986 327 1,38

Retirement Benefit Funds 50 6,23 22 140 668 7,66

Scrip Lending 1 0,12 151 475 0,05

Stockbrokers & Nominees 4 0,50 132 273 0,05

Trusts 73 9,01 15 769 129 5,44

802 100,00 289 209 449 100,00
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COUNT DIRECT HOLDING INDIRECT HOLDING TOTAL %

BENEFICIAL HOLDERS > 10%

Arrowhead Properties Limited 1  191 581 362  –   191 581 362 66,24

1  191 581 362  –   191 581 362 66,24

DIRECTORS

I. Suleman 1  –  5 273 809  5 273 809 1,82

M. Kaplan 1  –  5 273 809  5 273 809 1,82

C. de Wit 1 –   2 657 936  2 657 936 0,93

T. Kaplan 1 –   810 860  810 860 0,27

S. Noik 1 40 000 2 000 42 000 0,01

5  40 000  14 018 414  14 058 414 4,85

SHAREHOLDER TYPE
NUMBER OF 

SHAREHOLDERS
% OF TOTAL 

SHAREHOLDINGS
NUMBER OF 

SHARES
% OF ISSUED 

CAPITAL

Non-Public Shareholders 6 0,74 205 639 776 71,10

Directors and Associates (Direct Holding) 1 0,12 40 000 0,01

Directors and Associates (Indirect Holding) 4 0,50 14 018 414 4,85

Arrowhead Properties Limited 1 0,12 191 581 362 66,24

Public Shareholders 796 99,26 83 569 673 28,90

802 100,00 289 209 449 100,00

FUND MANAGERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES

Visio Capital Management 35 224 886 12,18

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS WITH A HOLDING GREATER THAN 3% OF THE ISSUED SHARES

Arrowhead Properties Limited 191 581 362 66,24

Old Mutual Group 13 875 095 4,80

205 456 457 71,04

Appendix

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

Opening price:  
1 October 2016 R9,25 

Closing price:  
29 September 2017 R9,60 

Closing high for period R11,50 

Closing low for period R9,10 

Number of shares in issue 
at period end 289 209 449 

Volume traded during 
period (shares) 26 903 416 

Ratio of volume traded to 
shares issued (%) 9,30

Rand value traded during 
the period R268 863 315 

Market capitalisation at  
29 September 2017 R2 776 410 710 

Total number of 
shareholders 802

Non-Public Breakdown 
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Property schedule

Appendix
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Adelphi Court Rosettenville,Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 007 000 – – 6 – – – 6 – – – – – –

Agatha Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 472 000 1 – 16 – – – 17 2 11,8 – – – –

Albaro Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 182 000 – – – 5 1 – 6 3 50,0 – – – –

Amanda Villa Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 1 750 000 – 1 4 – – – 5 1 20,0 – – – –

Amberfield Village Vanderbijlpark, Gauteng 2014/10/15 60 650 000 – – – 102 – – 102 – – – – – –

Annlin Place Sinoville, Pta, Gauteng 2015/04/01 42 375 000 – – 26 58 – – 84 – – – – – –

Annop Court Turfontein, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 690 000 1 1 – 5 – – 7 – – – – – –

Avril Gardens Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 6 616 000 – – – 10 2 – 12 3 25,0 – – – –

Arvin Court Berea, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 15 200 000 – 52 – – – – 52 – – – – – –

Balnagask Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 70 510 000 14 108 41 27 – – 190 2 1,1 – – – –

Beacon Royal Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/05/24 12 927 829 14 – – 13 3 – 30 1 3,3 – – – –

Bettenkeep Forrest Hill, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 497 000 – – – 9 – – 9 2 22,2 – – – –

Blauwberg Hillbrow, JHB, Gauteng 2017/10/13 51 159 000 – 6 3 9 57 28 103 – – – – – –

Bree Street block Cbd, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/03/30 65 058 000 4 42 13 29 6 – 94 8 8,5 3 906 – – 122,47

Caribbean Court Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 3 330 000 4 – 2 4 – – 10 – – – – – –

Cathay Mansions Fairview, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 6 744 000 3 6 13 3 – – 25 2 8,0 – – – –

Cedarmont Court Kenilworth, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 8 570 000 8 4 23 – – – 35 2 5,7 – – – –

Curzon Court Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/11/29 10 000 000 – 17 19 – – – 36 1 2,8 – – – –

Dalem Mews Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 067 000 – – – 12 – – 12 5 41,7 – – – –

Dukes Lodge Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 5 300 000 – – – – 10 – 10 – – – – – – 

Earls Den Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 12 971 000 – – – 20 – 3 23 1 4,3 – – – –

Ebenhauzer Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 795 000 1 2 4 2 – – 9 – – – – – –

Eendracht Turfontein, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 4 940 000 5 – 8 – – – 13 3 23,1 214 60 28,0 83,29

Elizabeth Gardens Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 199 000 1 – – 6 – – 7 4 57,1 – – – –

Elrit Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 11 400 000 – 1 – 15 – 2 18 – – 441 – – – 
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Eltruda Court Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/05/23 11 140 000 18 – 13 11 – – 42 – – – – – –

Empire Gardens Parktown, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/04/13 31 692 000 9 34 35 6 – – 84 8 9,5 – – – –

En Gedi Rynfield, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 29 474 000 – 23 15 32 – – 70 – – – – – – 

Fairway View Pollack Park, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/07/21 36 238 000 – 1 15 89 – – 105 12 11,4 – – – –

Fanrael Belle-vue, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 193 000 2 – – 4 – – 6 – – – – – –

Fasser House Pretoria Cbd, Gauteng 2017/07/01 53 400 000 – – 152 – – – 152 2 1,3 702 – – 125,87

Frangipani Ferndale, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 24 769 000 – 10 23 6 – 2 41 1 2,4 668 – – 97,72

Franschoek Ferndale, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 13 300 000 5 – 14 16 – – 35 – – – – – –

Frederick House Cbd, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/07/01 47 879 000 – 68 48 17 – 5 138 – – 295 – – 105,14

Garden View Kensington B, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/12/14 25 715 000 – – 16 48 – – 64 1 1,6 – – – –

Genoa Court Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 7 670 000 4 2 1 – 5 – 12 – – 293 – – 127,93 

Geraldine Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/11/30 25 800 000 – 21 19 32 7 3 82 1 1,2 – – – –

Glenhurst Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 870 000 1 7 8 – – – 16 3 18,8 448 – – 82,86 

Glenor Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/05/20 11 550 000 21 – 8 15 2 – 46 1 2,2 – – – –

Golden Views Germiston, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/06/10 63 850 000 – 24 47 86 – – 157 8 5,1 – – – –

Greenshank Villas Roodepoort, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/04/18 38 385 000 – – 3 116 – – 119 10 8,4 – – – – 

Hans Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 240 000 – 2 4 – – 1 7 1 14,3 – – – –

Highveld View Witbank, Mpumalanga 2015/04/02 319 376 000 – – – 450 – – 450 – – – – – –

Hillandale Berea, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 9 534 000 – – 13 13 1 – 27 – – – – – –

Hilton Heights Forrest Hill, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 410 000 – – 3 6 – – 9 1 11,1 – – – –

Homelands Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 13 828 000 14 5 4 20 – – 43 3 7,0 – – – –

Houghton Mansions Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/05/01 5 718 000 2 6 3 6 – – 17 – – – – – –

Houghton Ridge Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/05/20 12 940 000 20 1 11 8 8 – 48 – – – – – – 

Ilanga Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 4 053 000 – – 10 – – – 10 3 30,0 – – – –

Ironwood Honey Park, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/11/12 50 108 000 – – – 97 – – 97 3 3,1 – – – –
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Janin Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 721 000 – – – 12 – – 12 7 33,3 – – – –

Jozi House Cbd, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/07/01 83 386 000 – 31 167 45 – – 243 6 2,5 1 150 – – 132,62

Karen Place Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 7 073 000 – – – 10 2 – 12 8 66,7 – – – –

Kenwyn Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 168 000 1 – – 12 – – 13 9 69,2 – – – –

Kevrab Manor Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 3 390 000 – – – 4 2 – 6 5 83,3 – – – –

Khaya Square Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 17 883 000 – 4 1 18 2 – 25 1 4,0 631 – – 79,36

Kildaire Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 4 090 000 1 2 6 4 – – 13 – – – – – –

Kings Ransom Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/08/08 132 076 000 – 7 16 158 82 28 291 – – 1 656 – – 68,68

Kingston Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 6 226 000 1 – 15 – – – 16 3 18,8 – – – – 

Lana Lee Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 5 452 000 – – – 10 – – 10 2 20,0 – – – –

Lionsgate Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 7 313 000 1 – – – 12 – 13 9 69,2 – – – –

Longfellow Village Vanderbijlpark, Gauteng 2016/05/19 38 222 000 – – – – 51 – 51 – – – – – –

Lorelei Rock Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 249 000 – – – – 4 – 4 1 25,0 – – – –

Magdalena Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 010 000 – 2 4 3 – – 9 – – 112 – – 43,49

Margedale Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 10 336 000 – – – 19 – – 19 5 26,3 – – – –

Marvin Court Turfontein, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 4 310 000 1 4 10 – – – 15 2 13,3 – – – – 

Marwyn Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 167 000 1 – – 12 – – 13 3 23,1 – – – –

Matroosberg Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/11/01 62 100 000 1 46 9 1 47 41 145 1 0,7 81 – – 123,45

Mayburne Crest HIllbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 13 208 000 16 30 5 – – – 51 – – 182 – – 174,56 

Midhill Gardens Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/01/19 29 000 000 1 11 59 2 7 – 80 1 1,3 15 – – –

Molrow House Germiston, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/07/03 10 663 000 71 – – – – – 71 1 1,4 140 – – 123,54

Monks Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/05/01 6 725 000 1 – 1 13 – – 15 – – – – – –

Monsmeg Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 22 018 000 2 21 11 28 – – 62 3 4,8 – – – – 

Montere Hoogland, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/11/17 22 300 000 – – – 34 – – 34 4 11,8 – – – –

Morgenster Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/01/26 14 216 000 – 2 2 35 – – 39 – – – – – –

Mount Bradley Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 3 330 000 – – – 6 – – 6 – – – – – –
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Mountjoy Belle-Vue, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 8 250 000 9 – 12 3 – – 24 4 16,7 144 – – 118,84

My Place on 6th Florida, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/05/27 10 202 000 – 27 – – – – 27 – – – – – –

Myra Court Belle-Vue, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 7 600 000 4 – 13 4 – 1 22 1 4,5 – – – – 

Naleida Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 5 890 000 – – 3 9 3 – 15 – – – – – –

Neilsway Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 649 000 – – – 12 – – 12 5 41,7 – – – – 

Northways Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 14 402 000 6 – 13 11 8 – 38 – – – – – –

Nourse Street Cottages Troyville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 688 000 – – – 8 – – 8 – – – – – –

Park Chambers Cbd, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 13 100 000 – 21 14 – – – 35 4 11,4 200 – – 221,50

Park Crescent Orchards, Pta, Gauteng 2015/04/01 47 200 000 – 76 37 30 – – 143 – – – – – –

Park Mews Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/02/06 24 678 000 – 79 5 – – – 84 1 1,2 413 – – 78,69

Park Village Vanderbijlpark, Gauteng 2015/01/23 96 350 000 – – – – 116 – 116 – – – – – –

Parnon Court Bloemfontein, Free State 2017/07/01 22 291 000 – 35 10 25 – 1 71 – – – – – –

Philwade Manor Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 098 000 – – – 6 – – 6 1 16,7 – – – –

Prince Allan Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 3 343 000 – – – 6 – – 6 3 50,0 – – – –

Protea Glen Soweto, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/05/01 60 000 000 – – – 148 – – 148 1 0,7 – – – – 

Quagga Pretoria, Gauteng 2017/07/01 73 600 000 – – – 248 – – 248 – – 9 – – –

Redwood Honey Park, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/10/15 74 480 000 – – – 136 – – 136 8 5,9 – – – –

Rinanda Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 297 000 – 1 – 1 4 – 6 1 16,7 – – – –

Ronivan Court Rouxville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 11 805 000 16 – 18 6 – – 40 – – 260 74 28,5 77,65 

Rosdin Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 7 659 000 1 – – 12 – – 13 – – – – – –

Rosewood Honey Park, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/11/12 52 167 000 – – – 100 – – 100 4 4,0 – – – –

Sable Antelope Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 080 000 1 – – 4 – – 5 1 20,0 – – – –

Saint Peters Belle-Vue, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 660 000 3 - – – 1 4 8 – – – – – –

Sand Marie Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 688 000 – – – – 6 – 6 – – – – – –

Sefton Court Cbd, Jhb,  Gauteng 2014/06/13 36 505 000 – 16 26 28 – – 70 2 2,9 368 – – 264,01
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Selwood Place Berea, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/07 27 500 000 2 – 3 40 10 – 55 1 1,8 – – – –

Selwyn Hall Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/01 11 452 000 – – – 12 8 – 20 8 40,0 – – – –

Sentinel Hillbrow, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/11/25 122 619 000 – 142 13 17 118 36 326 3 0,01 1 013 20 2,0 89,02 

Seswick Court Berea, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 10 800 000 5 – 26 – – – 31 – – – – – –

Seventh Avenue Bezuidenhouts Valley, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 1 469 000 – – – 3 – – 3 – – – – – –

Silverdale Belle-Vue, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 414 000 3 – – 2 2 – 7 – – – – – –

Sixty One Contesses Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 8 762 000 – – – 6 9 – 15 2 13,3 – – – –

Southwold Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 3 004 000 – – – 7 2 – 9 1 11,1 – – – –

Stamford Square Forrest Hill, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/25 3 664 000 – – 3 6 – – 9 1 11,1 – – – –

Stone Arch Germiston, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/07/01 92 100 000 – – – 222 – – 222 – – – – – –

Sue Mark Court Berea, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 14 292 000 7 24 12 4 – 5 52 – – – – – – 

Summer Place Kosmosdal, Pta, Gauteng 2015/04/01 26 933 000 – 24 19 17 – – 60 – – – – – –

Syringa Kempton Park, Jhb, Gauteng 2017/07/01 64 500 000 – – 66 80 – – 146 1 0,7 – – – – 

Toronto Heights Cbd, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 19 101 000 1 – 38 7 2 – 48 1 2,1 496 – – 44,29

Treetops Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 2 470 000 2 – – 4 – – 6 5 83,3 – – – –

Triaid Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 8 230 000 1 9 10 3 – – 23 4 17,4 275 – – 66,06

Turf Centre Turfontein, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 6 895 000 – – – 15 – – 15 2 13,3 195 – – 46,02 

Villa Borghese Windsor, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/04/30 4 308 000 – – 2 4 2 – 8 1 12,5 – – – –

Violet Court Rosettenville, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 3 890 000 1 – 1 9 – – 11 – – – – – –

Wendy Court Brixton, Jhb, Gauteng 2015/04/01 5 918 000 – 14 – – – – 14 4 28,6 496 – – 39,24

Whitley Court Booysens, Jhb, Gauteng 2014/06/09 4 613 000 1 – 8 5 1 – 15 2 13,3 – – – –

Willanda Yeoville, Jhb, Gauteng 2016/05/17 9 529 000 17 – 8 3 9 – 37 – – – – – –

Willowbrooke Kosmosdal, Pta, Gauteng 2017/07/01 46 700 000 – – – 100 – – 100 1 1,0 – – – –

Wonderpark Orchards, Pta, Gauteng 2015/04/01 51 700 000 – 180 – – – – 180 1 0,6 – – – – 

2 945 718 828 330 1 252 1309 3 196 612 160 6 859 243 3,5 14 803 154 1,0 109,31
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Definitions
A Arrowhead Arrowhead Properties Limited, a REIT 

listed on the JSE

Amorispan Amorispan Proprietary Limited

B Board Board of directors of the Company

C CEO Chief executive officer

CFO Chief financial officer

CGT Capital Gains Tax

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission

Companies Act Companies Act, 2008 as amended

Company Indluplace Properties Limited

CSI Rentals CSI Rentals Proprietary Limited

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant

D Diluculo Diluculo Property Proprietary Limited

E Executive CEO, FD and COO

F FD Financial Director

G Gearing Loan from Standard Bank of South Africa 
Limited divided by investment property

Gross expense ratio On a gross basis, gross property expenses 
are divided by gross revenue when 
calculating the ratio.

Group Indluplace its subsidiaries and associates

GLA The gross lettable area

I IFRS International Financial Reporting 
Standards

IT Information technology

Implementation report Remuneration Implementation report in 
respect of remuneration contained on 
page 41.

Indluplace Indluplace Properties Limited

Indluplace share scheme Indluplace Share and Option Scheme

K King IV King IVTM report on corporate governance

J JSE JSE Limited

L LTV Loan to value

N NAV Net asset value

Net expense ratio On a net basis, utility expenses are 
deducted from utility recoveries and 
included in the property expenses when 
calculating the ratio.

M m² Square metre

Mafadi Mafadi Property Management Proprietary 
Limited

P Pipeline Potential property acquisitions not 
yet finalised

R Rand South African Rand

REIT Real Estate Investment Trust

Remuneration Policy Remuneration policy of the company for 
the year ahead contained on page 36.

S SENS Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE

Share or ordinary share Share or ordinary share of no par value 
share in the capital of the Company

Strate Strate is a licensed Central Securities 
Depository for the electronic settlement of 
financial instruments in South Africa

U Units Residential units
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